Robert Wesley Kelly Reminiscences – Parts 1: Isle of Man, P2: South Africa, P3: WWII Events
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Robert Wesley Kelly meets “Jeanie” Wilson for the first time

Foreword
The following document is a transcription of an original handwritten autobiographical account of memorable events in the life of Robert Wesley Kelly. It comprises of three parts: the first about his life in the Isle of Man, from his birth in 1865 up until his departure for South Africa in 1889, as a young man, age 24.

The second part recounts his journey to and arrival in South Africa, where he met and married ‘Jeanie’ Wilson. Apart from this, the reminiscences from South Africa are almost exclusively of his business and work experiences and very little about his private life or family.

A final section is a list of “notes previous to and gradually leading up to Second World War”, covering a period towards the end of 1936 up to RAF bombing raids of Germany in June 1942, at which point RWK was 77 years old.

It is tempting to think he wrote this notebook in his twilight years, perhaps beginning after the death of his wife in 1940 when he would have been 75 years of age with the last entry around 1942. 
The notebook was found by chance in a plastic bag under the eaves of the house in Newhaven following the death of my father - his youngest daughter’s husband, Ralph Gregory Wilmot, in 2012. The book has now been deposited with the Manx National Heritage Library and Archives in Douglas, Isle of Man, on 8 June 2017 where it has been allotted deposit reference no. MS 14248.
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The Georgian Kellies c. 1914?
 Jane “Jeanie”, Mildred "Mimmie", Elizabeth Maude “Maudie", 

Douglas, Stanley, Blanche and Robert Wesley.  

Of further interest is the travel diary written by RWK’s youngest daughter, Maude Elizabeth, recording the family’s ‘European Tour’ between 4th May and 20th September 1924 as it combines chronologically as a third chapter amongst her father’s 3 chapters to record selected events of a colonial family during a fascinating and influential historical period
. 
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Glasgow, September 2017

PREAMBLE

Robert Wesley Kelly wrote a very detailed account of his life, for the benefit of his family. He set about it in a business like way naming his parents, his wife, their children, then proceeding to record his own life history. Curiously, he wrote it all in the third person
.
Robert Wesley Kelly                                       Born   11 January 1865      
Jane Stewart Kelly (born Wilson)                   Born   29 April    1872       
Robert Wesley Kelly & Jane Stewart Kelly    Married 14 April 1897

Blanche Stewart                Daughter                Born 28 January 1898*
        
Mildred May                     Daughter                Born 31 August 1900*         
Robert Douglas                 Son                         Born 2 June 1901*               
Stanley Wilson                  Son                         Born 12 September 1906*   
Maude Elizabeth              Daughter                  Born 14 August 1911*        
Part 2: South Africa – pps. 5-48
Robert Wesley Kelly had booked his passage to leave Douglas for Liverpool 10th October 1889 on his way to London. But the weather was so bad. Seas running mountain high. The Isle of Man’s Steam Packet Company’s vessel wouldn’t leave the pier. Passage delayed until 11th October Weather still very bad. But a special vessel was run out from the union Harbour. And a start was made on the first leg of the journey to Johannesburg South Africa. A short stay was made in London. Visiting various places of amusement and such places of interest.

After the interesting journey from London to Denmark. “By train of course”. Got on board The Norham Castle
 of Sister Ship to the Roslin Castle under the command of Captain Robinson Commodore of the ‘Donald Currie’
 Castle Line?

There was a full complement of passengers including many Cornish miners on their way to the Transvaal Gold Mines. Also many Jews looking forward to a gamble on the Johannesburg Stock Market.

All and sundry were full of hope
 although Jack Harris, known to many miners as “Mad Jack”, done his best to make his fellow Cornish men downhearted. Harris was well on in years, had previously been in America and later on the Johannesburg Mines.  He was a tall good looking man and could speak like a public entertainer. He would get these young miners on deck and tell them what they must be prepared for. He would say,
“I have been to the mines and worked on them, so I know what I am talking about. You are all very bright and cheerful on board this ship. But I am warning you that before you are all in the Transvaal a month, half of you will be buried through the raging fever in the District and it is the young men who are taken quickest. ” 
Some of these young men were newly married others had left their sweethearts and “Mad Jack” really made some of them very, very sad. He couldn’t make the Jews depressed they were ready to take any risk to make easy money.

It was rough in the Bay of Biscay. Robert like many of the passengers did not feel to good. More especially one day when a German and his wife had marmalade with their kippered Herring. After crossing the Bay all hands enjoyed visiting Lisbon. First port of call. Most passengers went ashore. Some enjoyed a “Bull fight” but the majority enjoyed short drives and wandering round Black Horse Square and having a look at Lisbon Public Buildings.

After Lisbon most passengers were able to take their full part at mealtimes. Later the small town of Funchal. Madeira was indicated. With
 its funny little train and the sliding down the Hillside. Robert enjoyed every moment ashore. Robert has visited Madeira many times since and always enjoyed the short stay there. During the long run from Madeira to Cape Town with a smooth sea most passengers took part in the Deck Games, Sweep on the Boats daily Run. Concerts, Dancing etc. Taking it all in all, it was a cheerful time. Previous to Robert leaving home his great friend Harry Wood personally wrote Orchestral Band parts, for many of his songs. As a family gift at parting. This gift came in very useful during the voyage. The Norham Castle had a very good orchestra. Many of its members taking a health trip. The orchestra was able to accompany Robert when he sang on deck and in this way many friends were made.

Captain Robinson was very musical. He played many flute solos and sang duets with Robert. The Captain and Robert became very friendly during the voyage. About three years later Robert’s younger brother David travelled to South Africa in the Roslin Castle, Captain Robinson was the ship’s commander. He met David on deck soon after the vessel left England and said, “Is your name Kelly?” (He noticed the likeness) “Did your brother come out with one on the Norham?”  When David said “Yes”, the Captain said, “Can you sing?”
Robert was only supposed to stay two to three years in South Africa, then return home and join his father in Business. But owing to his father’s death in the meantime the arrangement was never carried out and Robert made his home in Africa. 

A matter of annoyance during the voyage to the Cape somebody considered they had a better right to a fine watch presented to Robert by his father, just previous to leaving home.

Travelling on the Norham Castle was a Miss Shimmin. Sister of a Wesleyan Minister stationed in the Klerksdorp Transvaal (The Rev Isaac Shimmin
 later became a great friend of Cecil Rhodes) Miss Shimmin was going on to Durban to be married and Robert had booked for Durban also. Mr Shimmin wrote to his sister asking her to advise Robert to change at Cape Town and go direct to Johannesburg. Robert got off the Norham Castle at Cape Town and started making arrangements for travelling up country. He decided to leave all heavy luggage at the Cape and travel light. The heavy goods to be forwarded at a later date. Another young fellow and Robert were travelling together. They purchased two Carpenters Tool baskets each. One for tools the other to carry food for the journey. In those days there were no dining cars on trains. The train pulling up at certain stations. To allow passengers to have their meals in the Dining Rooms. If you were lucky enough to get in first all well and good and sometimes the last arrivals had to go without food. And the Guard of the train who was in the know would blow his whistle so that all would rush back to the train. Well to make certain of food supply they had a ham cooked, purchased Tinned fruits, Jams, Butter, Coffee, Tea, Sugar, Milk & Bread. What would be left after the train journey to Kimberley. To be used between Kimberley and Johannesburg. There were Dining Rooms at Worcester, Matjiesfontein
  Prince Albert Road, Beaufort West, Hutchinson, De Aar
 and Orange River. Matjiesfontein and De Aar were considered to be the best. Although Robert and friend were well supplied with food they used very little as they found the food in the Dining Rooms excellent. And they could see the food on the Wagon Road later on.
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Contemporary picture from train journey from Cape Town to Johannesburg

Just a number of the Norham Castle passengers travelled on the same train and had made no provision for food on the journey. They sponged on Robert and friend all the time; ate their food and wouldn’t go into the Dining Room. It was a big lesson of the selfishness in Human Nature.

After passing Worcester the train travelled up through the Hex River Pass. A wonderful feat of Railway Engineering as far back as 1889. It was the main point of interest on the Railway journey from Cape Town to Kimberley Railway Station. A very pleasant and unexpected surprise awaited the traveller’s Mr James Halsall
 “a Manxman” met them. Mr Halsall, who had been some years in South Africa, heard of Robert’s arrival in South Africa and made a point of being at the station. During the short stay he took Robert and his friend to points of interest including the Bowling Alley where many miners and others met in the evenings. Miners worked hard, earned big money and spent money like water. Transport difficulties were great. There was the mail coach, which travelled day and night
.

The Jubilee line of coaches where one could get a short night’s rest at a small Road House hotel
. Mule wagon and Ox wagon carried many passengers.

The Mail Coaches were very expensive to travel by and booked up with long waiting lists. The Jubilee Coach well booked up also. Mr Halsall strongly advised against travelling by mule or ox wagon. He was a coach agent and had seats allotted next to the Driver in a Jubilee Coach.

This was the first meeting between Robert and James Halsall and started a friendship which continued over many years. “Until the time of Mr Halsall’s death”.  The Road Journey was about 310 miles; Kimberley, Warrenton, Fourteen Stream (Vaal River) Christiana, Bloemhof, Klerksdorp, Potchefstroom, Johannesburg, The Country from Kimberly to the Vaal River seemed very desolate the grass all dried up. But as soon as the river was crossed the scene immediately changed. Everything green and beautiful. Potchefstroom was a lovely country town even in those days. A nurse got on the coach at Kimberley and in parting from the Kimberley lover she carried out some heavy weeping and a wee fainting fit. By the time the coach arrived at Fourteen Streams the nurse had forgotten all about the Kimberley young man and was sitting with Robert’s friend’s arm around him and spooning to beat the band and when she left the coach at Potchefstroom there was further weeping.

Christiana and Bloemhof were small villages. But the Veldt round about was lovely and green and the gardens looked quite gay. Klerksdorp was just a scattered miserable looking mining district.
The Coach entered Johannesburg through Booysen’s Township.  The  Booysen Hotel
 gardens were noted then for these open air promenade concerts.

Strange to say there was very little important in the Booysen District for a period of 30 years. The Old Jubilee Coach arrived in Johannesburg on Sunday 14th November 1889. On the way Kimberley to Johannesburg Barney Barnato’s
 special express Coach was met on its way to Kimberley travelling at top speed. A team of 11 oxen was passed all killed by lightening. The current having run along the chain between the oxen killing the lot. The many natives flying around wouldn’t touch the beasts. 
This incident left a deep impression on the minds of the newcomers to the Transvaal. 
Robert was wise in travelling by coach. A matter of 4 days  travelling against a 5th day [image: image5.png]LI LA
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Johannesburg in 1899

occupied by other Norham Castle passengers Robert arrived on the Sunday and was at work on the Monday 20 November earning at the rate of £7-10-0 a week.
When the travellers by wagon arrived they had many amusing tales to tell. One was connected with the food (previously mentioned) handed over to them. There was a quarrel when they arrived at the Vaal River Crossing as to who was really the owner of the little bit of food given them ending up by one being thrown in the River. 
On the coach Kimberley to Johannesburg was a lady well on in years. She originally came from Ireland. But had lived in Kimberley many years and later lived in Johannesburg. Mrs Murphy was a very nice cheerful lady. And as Robert and friend were due in Johannesburg on the Sunday accommodation was likely to be difficult to find. She very kindly offered a shakedown (bed made up on floor) and food until there was time to have a look round. The offer was gratefully accepted. But were obliged to leave more quickly than anticipated.

On returning to the house 4 pm the old lady was as full up as a tick with good strong liquor. Too inclined to be merry and too affectionate. She said, “Kelly I like you and I want you to marry my daughter.”  The young lady of 18 years was quite a charming girl and to make matters more pleasant all round they found new digs on the Monday night. The girl must have been upset by the mother and getting out quickly was making it easier for the girl.

After a good wash and general clean up Robert had a look round the centre of the town. Going along one of the main streets a building sign board was noticed. The Building construction being a Yorkshire man and a Manxman. There was a carpenter and joiner’s shop behind the sign board and a small cottage alongside. It being Sunday no one was in the workshop. But the Manxman was located on calling at the cottage. In fact he and his family lived there and it turned out that Robert and his newly found friend had at one time lived near each other in the Isle of Man. At the time Robert lived at Ballawhane. Robert was a boy when the contractor left the Isle of Man for Natal, South Africa.

A lasting friendship had been started that Sunday between these two gentlemen and Robert.

Although Robert had never met his newly found friend he knew all about Robert. Robert’s father being so well known throughout the Island particularly well known in Kirk Andreas.

Robert spent the Sunday evening – his first day in Johannesburg – at the house of a good Manxman and his good lady. It was arranged to meet both partners Monday morning                            and Robert and his friend started on their first job of work in Africa. It was suggested that Robert should start in the workshop and the friend go outside to start on a new roof. The friend said it wasn’t much in his line. In fact he was afraid to take the job as they had never previously worked together.

Robert was afraid he wouldn’t be able to hold down the job and suggested that he would take on the roof job and his friend could remain in the shop. 
Robert’s first job of work in Johannesburg was framing up and completing the roof to the old waterworks Offices
, near Commissioner and End streets. 
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Commissioner Street, Johannesburg circa 1899 

Rate of pay 25/- per day (£7-10.0 per week). This was considered a good wage in those days. Many artisans received only 22/- per day. In Cape Town for instance the ordinary artisan received 9/- per day leading hands 10/- per day.

When the construction work on hand was completed, Robert had enough of his workmate and fixed up with another young man who worked together for years with him. A real good hard working fellow.

On interviewing a constructor who had a large number of windows to make he said I never pay more than 22/- per day. But I prefer getting the window out on a piecework basis. A price was mentioned and Robert agreed to take on the work and in place of earning 25/- per day made 37/6. There was no more piecework but agreed to pay the 25/- per day willingly
.  Robert was sent to Bree Street to get in and generally fix up bar fittings. 
On the morning of the third day the Contractor came round to see what progress (had been) made and during a conversation came out with the remark, “Mr Kelly, I am afraid this work will never pay.”  Robert was very annoyed at this remark and said, “What do you mean by this remark? I have been here just over two days. I am prepared to knock the lot down and if either you or anyone else in your employ can fix more in the same time I will pay for the lot. I haven’t come to this country hard up. Whatever the fittings cost to prepare in your workshop is no concern of mine. I am concerned with the fixing only.”

He apologized and said he didn’t mean what I thought. The following morning the contractor arrived at Bree Street and said Mr Kelly I want you to take full charge of my work. The new rate of pay to be £10-10 per week and later Robert took charge of the new Church of England “Church” 
 Jeppestown 
.
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One morning the old Foreman who had been with the construction a year was sent along to Robert and to work under Robert’s direction. This was a awkward moment. The Saturday being difficult: Then Robert said to the old Foreman, “You may pick your own job working inside the building or outside the building but there must be no shirking or running to the share market. A proper days work must be carried out otherwise a change will be made. But not in the way you imagine. You will not be fired. I will fire myself if you don’t play the game. You are a married man with a family I am still single.” 

This man did play the game and remained a good friend during his lifetime. It is pleasing to relate this man was very successful in later life. Robert thoroughly enjoyed the life as lived in Johannesburg. He never anticipated being so happy and contented. There was a hearty welcome in many homes. Music was the means of making friends quickly. Robert met and made friends with Mr James Hyde and Madame Hyde
. James Hyde was Oliver Gapp’s cousin. Hyde conducted the Wanderer’s Band and as previously mentioned Gapp was the well known conductor at concerts in the Isle of Man.

James Hyde conducted the Wanderer’s Choral Society. Robert often took the Bass Solo when Madame Hyde rendered the Contralto Solo. Many smoking concerts were got up at the Grand National Hotel and other places to raise money for bringing out nurses. Often soon after a nurse arrived in the Golden City she was snapped up in marriage by discontented Bachelor. Women were scarce in those days. There were many concerts in aid of the various churches. Robert helped all and sundry where and when possible.

Johannesburg was a very friendly kind of place (with) little or no class distinction. Jack being as good as his master. Later on the newly rich upset that kind of thing.

 Johannesburg was a place of extremes in the Eighties and Nineties. One could meet the very best type of man. The rush for gold following the Kimberley Diamond Boom naturally recounted for the peculiar mixture of men. The type of miner employed on the mines was in many ways superior to those employed at a later date. Large numbers were mining contractors paid by the quantity of rock taken out of the workings. Unfortunately many of these very excellent men left the Rand mines during the period of the Boer War
,
.  Many joined up with the British Forces: others too ill to take up arms returned to their homes. But as all the miners more or less had contracted Miners Phthisis
 previous to going away very few indeed ever returned to mining on the Rand.

In the first stage of gold mining on the Rand the miners were not equipped with the modern spraying apparatus and other up to date matters and although miners earned big money the average life was very short. Living accommodation was far from good. The wood and iron rooms hot and badly ventilated. Therefore the miner could be excused for kicking over the traces “now and again” on Saturday nights. They had no family home comforts. It was a case of a few drinks and then settle down to Cornish carol singing. The singing of these carols was beautiful. They would sing with extraordinary fervour. Their eyes filled with tears and their voices also carried that pathetic weeping kind of tone that one can hear at a church revivalist meeting place. The more drinks up to a certain point the more energy and feeling put into the singing.

Robert Heath, ex Naval Band Conductor Organist of St Mary’s Church, a Cornishman, composed many Cornish Carols and could get the best out of the Cornish singers. On a special Cornish occasion Robert was in Johannesburg during the lowering of the flag incident at the Post Office
. When Paul Kruger paid Johannesburg a special visit there was no political significance attached to the affair; as far as the British population were concerned.

A few irresponsible foolish young men were out for a bit of fun thinking it would be a great joke to lower the flag on the post office. It was a most unfortunate bit of fun and was the means of bringing about a lot of unnecessary feeling between Boer and Briton. These silly young men to finish up (what they called) their bit of sport made a noisy demonstration in front of Capt Von Brandis’s Residence where the President Paul Kruger stayed. During the evening, pulling down part of the fence, Paul Kruger was so annoyed at the whole demonstration of rowdyism that he refused to visit Johannesburg again
.  M Paul Kruger had a counsellor like General Smuts behind him instead of a Doctor Leyds
 who was strongly anti British. 

The whole business could have been explained and fixed up.

During the foregoing period referred to Robert shared rooms on a “vacant plot” in Kerk Street adjoining Capt Von Brandis’s Residence and was able to observe most of what was going on. Robert knew Capt Von Brandis
, 
  personally. A charming old gentleman. He took part in Robert’s marriage service a few years later.

The cost of living for a married man with a family was expensive. But a single could live at a very reasonable cost. A decent room (not including furniture) £2 – 10 – 0 per month and food at a decent Restaurant, £8 – to £8.10 - 0 per month. Clothing expensive, but newcomers from England generally arrived with a good supply.

Generally speaking Johannesburg was a good place to live in. Quite a number of the wealthy men lived in Doornfontein 
. At a later period moving further out at week ends Robert went for walks to Orange Grove, Booysen and other places
. In 1891 there was a great slump in the Building Trades
,
 .Many men idle and a cutting down of wages.

Robert could find work but some of his artisan friends were out of a job. Robert resigned from his job. He and three friends decided to leave the town for a time. One member of the party left for the Home Country. Three finished up in Cape Town for a time. A light mule wagon was returning to Kimberley empty. They hired the wagon for the journey. It took 10 days (to go from) Johannesburg to Kimberley. It was most enjoyable gathering fuel, making fires and the necessary cooking. At Kimberley Robert could have found work but wouldn’t leave his friends. During a short stay in Kimberley Robert sang at a concert. Robert was offered a good job in Kimberley just because he could sing.

On arrival by train at Cape Town soon found employment but the wage was too small to remain there long. Robert was employed on a new building at Observatory to be used as a lunatic asylum. One of the coloured Bricklayers was a very cheeky individual always giving a lot of back-chat when requested to do anything. One particular morning Robert was hanging a door on one of the cells. He caught this coloured chap pulled him inside, and gave him a real good hiding. He treated Europeans with respect afterwards.  Most of the Cape magistrates were inclined to take the coloured man’s part but in the cell with the door locked there was no witness. The wage being only 10/- per day Robert secured a job as General Foreman for a Swedish Constructor at a much higher wage. But previous to starting he made it a condition that he was to have full control. A German carpenter and joiner, who had been acting as Shop Foreman, was always drunk when Robert took over. On the German’s return he objected to taking orders. Robert said, “You do as I tell you or get out.”  The arrogant German immediately became like a lamb.

Robert enjoyed his little over half a year in Cape Town making a point of seeing everything worth seeing and has maintained ever since his stay there that there is no place more suitable for a man with a decent income to return to. There is nothing special about the town itself outside of Table Mountain but its suburbs and surrounding district taking in the Cape Peninsula with its good roads would be hard to beat anywhere.

Through singing and his love for good music Robert made numerous friends in Cape Town but at times queer situation happened. Having been brought up in a Wesleyan Methodist home on his first Sunday morning he made his way to the Metropolitan Methodist church in Greenmarket Square and joined the choir but had a very cold reception. The same thing happened on the second Sunday. Members of the choir were too indifferent to pass on a music book. No more choir for Robert. A young man named Storey, a Methodist local preacher, who had probably stayed for a time in Douglas asked Robert if he would undertake to fix up Toblin’s Arch etc.,  a sort of forest scene in the Metropolitan Church Hall,  where they intended holding a sale of work and also a short concert. Robert and another young man took their coats off and worked every night for a fortnight. The church people were in and out most evenings. But not a soul had time to speak to what they considered the common carpenter doing the real work (all without pay). Mr Storey had asked Robert to sing 3 nights and Robert fixed up to sing at 9 each night choosing Honour and Arms from Handel’s Samson and he received a great reception having to respond with two encores. Members of the choir including the organist rushed over to Robert to congratulate him on his wonderful singing. 
Robert replied, “I was in your choir on two Sundays you considered yourselves too great to know me as you refused to give a stranger a welcome I am not over anxious to know you now.”

 Although later he became very friendly with some members of the choir during this period in Cape Town. Robert was introduced to a very attractive young lady, Miss Sarah Wilson. He walked home with her at odd times. One evening
 Sarah introduced Robert to her younger sister Jane Stewart Wilson known to all her friends as “Jeanie Wilson”. It was rather dark at the time Jeanie and Robert took very little notice of each other, strange to say Jeanie and Robert were married a little over six years afterwards. Robert has always been an abstainer from alcoholic liquor and has often gone out of his way to assist the Temperance Cause. But maintains that many well meaning temperance people “Damn their own cause” by inflicting long dry as dust speeches and too much ritual at their Temperance Meetings. Young bright healthy people full of the joy of life won’t put up with it. The consequence is the well meaning temperance people can only gather into the fold the very proper, tame, well conducted young people that couldn’t go wrong if they tried to.

There was a big Temperance gathering in one of the Lay Halls in Cape Town. Robert was down to sing on the first part and also on the second part of the programme. He warned the Secretary that he wouldn’t sing a note after 10.00 p.m. With him it was a fixed rule.

The Secretary objected to the singing of an encore song in the first part but the audience overruled him in the second part.  They brought on speech out of turn putting Robert’s item back at 10.15 p.m. Robert walked up to the piano, retrieved  his music and walked out of the Hall. They tried to get him back but without success. Half the people walked out before the meeting ended.

In the beginning of 1892 Robert became restless. A change was indicated. He resigned from his job. 

(By the way in all his life previous to starting his own business Robert never got what is vulgarly called “The Sack”. The job had either been completed or he had resigned).

The next centre of interest being Bloemfontein, the capital of the Orange Free State. Bloemfontein being the main base in connection with the Cape railway extension to Johannesburg. 
On arrival in Bloemfontein there was the interview with Clerk of Works who mentioned that four houses were being erected for Head Traffic Officers. Three had been given out and the roofs were being put on. They could start on the fourth house at ground level & carry on to completion. The labour contract would be the same account as the other three. This was very satisfactory. It was just a matter of getting their backs into the job where good money could be made. Later it was found that Robert’s house was going up with nearly double the speed of the other houses. Those engaged on the other houses waited upon Robert requesting him to slow down as they hoped to get more money advanced for the other three houses. Robert replied that he was satisfied with the amount agreed upon and there would be no slowing down. Just after this happened the Chief Resident Engineer and the Clerk of Works inspected the four houses. As Mr Curran Assistant Traffic Manager required two extra rooms put on his house the intention was to extend one of the first three houses, which would mean considerable alteration and adding to the expense. On visiting the No. 4 house the Clerk of Works remarked, “These young fellows are making such progress, perhaps it would be best to put the two extra rooms on No. 4 and avoid the extra expense.” This was done and No. 4 house, including the extra rooms, was completed within a week of the first three houses.

Just previous to the completion of this job Robert was offered the position of Outside Travelling Clerk of Works, which in addition to a fixed salary carried 10/- per night for special expenses. Robert’s reply was, “Gentleman, I thank you for the offer. The job would be too good to throw up and I have no wish to get married to the Railway.”  Robert had definitely made up his mind to return to Johannesburg later. Later on Robert and his partner were given two special Engineer’s houses to frame up in section ready for fixing and later to go further up the Railway line and erect the houses. The prices were agreed to and they got down to some hard work. To help to bring the account allowed for travelling time up to a decent average. The houses were completed to drawings. But the authorities suddenly decided to add considerable work. 
Robert asked the Clerk of Works “How much would be allowed for the extra work?” He mentioned a figure, Robert said, “It’s too little.”  The Clerk of Works said, “It’s the best I can do for you.”  Robert said, “Right, I am quitting the Railway Service.”  
His partner also decided to leave. (The fact is the Clerk of Works had made a note of the time occupied and the amount earned and made up his mind to water down the average). Robert went into Bloemfontein secured a job for his partner and fixed up for himself to start the following Monday.

Later on going to the Engineer’s office to draw the money due for work done the Engineer called Robert in to his private office. He said “Why are you leaving Kelly?” 

Robert replied, “I have no complaints to make”. But said the engineer you have earned big money this month you should be satisfied Robert replied, “I am perfectly satisfied with what I have earned but I am not satisfied with the new proposed adjustment. On the proposal we couldn’t earn 10/- a day each. But the clerk of works started me and now we cannot agree and  I have resigned. I wouldn’t have mentioned the reason if you had not raised the point. On the Friday afternoon following, Robert met Mr Williams the Clerk of Works on the Railway Station. He called Robert and said I would like you to come to my house this evening and have dinner with my wife and I.

Robert accepted the invitation. Previous to having dinner Mr Williams showed him drawings and photographs of work carried out under his direction when in Australia. Mr Williams originally came from the Scilly Isles. There was quite a friendly chat while having dinner and afterwards. But just as Robert was about to leave Mr Williams said, “Now young man, won’t you make up your mind and come back to me?” Robert replied, “On one condition only. That you give me a personal promise that whether up the line or down the line or at Headquarters my earnings won’t be less than I have earned previously. If you give me that promise I will return on Monday.” After a while he said, 

“All right.” The whole matter was fixed up and no further dispute occurred.

Furthermore although Robert and partner were away greatly they were paid in full for this time on the wage previously earned. Everything went on smoothly after this. But some time later Mr Williams approached Robert and said he had some urgent work consisting of framing up and erecting a number of Platelayers’ cottages five miles apart in various 
Districts between Bloemfontein and the Vaal River and if he cared to take a number on it would suit him better to have a price fixed. He mentioned the price given to some other men but they grumbled having come out on the job rather badly. The trouble was these men insisted on coming in to Bloemfontein every weekend and thereby lost a lot of time in delay and travelling. Robert went into the matter and said I will take on three Districts if you will give me an undertaking that no matter how much we earn you will not reduce the price for anyone else between here and the Vaal River and it was verbally agreed to. It was a real good contract. But they did not return to Bloemfontein until one District (was) completely finished. Sometimes working all through the night to catch a suitable train for removal of their cargo. Of course there was a free Railway Pass in connection with all the work.

One of Robert’s first jobs on the (Orange) Free State Railway construction was a month taken on a special trip from Bloemfontein to Norval’s Pont
. Examining and approving the finish of all building between these two points for the Resident Engineer. Previous to maintenance taking over from construction many small repairs had to be carried out. The complete journey was made on the Plates layer
 pushed from section to section by the native boys
. Going slow steep grades
, when the boys jumped on to the back of Trolley they could keep pace with the ordinary speed of the train. Robert resigned from the Railways to take charge of work on the Bloemfontein Hospital. But in the meantime had arranged with Mr Williams to give a start to his younger brother
 who was arriving from home. The Railway Authorities granting his brother a free railway Pass – Cape Town to Bloemfontein while Robert was employed on the Railway. A foreign Jew arrived there. He had managed to secure a free pass for the journey from Cape Town to start work as a Bricklayer, Robert reckoned the Jew had never handled a brick in his life previously. He was allowed to carry on his hopeless task for a month and then ‘fired’. Next thing he started walking up and down the Railway line selling sundry articles to Railway employees. 
In a few weeks he had a shabby little horse and spring cart. Before nine months he had a Swagger Cape Cart
and a pair of spanking horses. These fellows were called “Smous”
. In any case, in a couple of years, the Jew was worth a few hundred pounds stg. By pretending to be a bricklayer he wangled a Railway Pass to get up country. That was all that mattered. After the Bloemfontein Hospital Robert went to the New Construction “Leeur River Mill” near the Basutoland Border between Thaba Nchu
 and Ladybrand
. It was a well paid job, a lonely kind of life but being able to purchase a lovely Basuto pony, a prize winner at the local races and the finest triple Robert had ever seen, made all the difference. It helped to make life worth living. This was Robert’s final job of work in the Orange Free State. 
Going back to the time in Bloemfontein the Railway Authorities provided excellent free Quarters. There was a good mess made up of friends employed average 10 to 12 persons. An old ship’s carpenter looked after all the catering. (This was extra to his employment as a Carpenter on the Railway). He was a grand cook and purchased everything of the best. He got his food free for looking after the catering. The cost per head was remarkably cheap. Each member of the Mess had to take a turn of stirring the oatmeal porridge for at least half hour in the morning. “It was grand porridge”. The Old Man used to make wonderful puddings (Baked Puddings) Orange Puddings being a specialty. 
A young Yorkshire man used to share the room with Old Man Sergeant. As a snorer, Hoggart was the world’s limit when his bedroom door was shut. His snoring was audible across the street. If Hoggart was late coming home at night old Sergeant would say, “Damn it. Where is Hoggart? I cannot sleep until he gets started.”

 Some members of the mess attended the Wesleyan Methodist Church
. Hoggart was one of them. He always put sixpence in on the collection plate. One Sunday morning he put 10/- on by mistake. He did not notice it. One of the young fellows said “You were liberal this morning Hoggart putting 10/- on the plate. Hoggart was very upset but did not like to ask for the change back. He worked the difference and in thirty eight weeks time he told Robert’s partner that he had reached the 9/6 put in the plate by mistake. He had cut the 4d to 3d and then started afresh putting in 6d. Robert always considered Hoggart had a missing brain. When Robert first arrived in Bloemfontein he found a number of men who had previously heard him sing in Johannesburg. A young Cornishman named Mitchell who was leaving for home was anxious to hear him sing and as about fifty men from the Railway works were attending a social evening at the Wesleyan Methodist Church Mitchell was anxious to get Robert placed on the programme. Robert pointed out to Mitchell that as the programme was arranged it would be wise to leave him out. But Mitchell and the other railway men were keen on him singing. He said, “All right if you fix it up with the Minister, I will sing.” 
Without going into the matter the suggestion was curtly refused. Robert was very annoyed. Not at the refusal to let him sing but at the treatment extended to a large number of men. 
Strangers to Bloemfontein, sitting, together in a corner of the hall and the gathering were arranged from the pulpit on the previous Sunday as a church social meeting. All welcome on a Saturday afternoon, just over two weeks later. The Minister called at Robert’s room. (Robert was outside having a wash). He said, “I have called round to see Mr Kelly.”  Robert replied “You are speaking to him.” The Minister said “I am very pleased to meet you and Miss Cumming has asked me to see you and find out if you will sing at a concert in a fortnight’s time in connection with the Sunday school.”  Robert replied “As this is Miss Cumming’s request I will sing with pleasure but if it were a request from the Rev James Scott it is very questionable. The reply would have been no.”  The Rev gentleman apologized saying he had no idea there was such a well known singer in the hall, Robert said “You know there was a stranger in the hall, in fact about fifty from the Railway Camp, and neither you or any of the church officials came to see them and bid them welcome. Furthermore our family at home are all Wesleyan Methodists and my brother is a Minister. Moreover most of the Railway Men are highly skilled and belong to good families in the old country.” 
After the meeting there appeared to be a much better understanding and Railway Men had no further need to grumble.

On another occasion the Grand Templar asked Robert to arrange a concert to raise funds and also to promote the cause. The Rev Scott’s good lady undertook to secure the service of the Free State’s best known soprano. On a Saturday afternoon called at Mr Scott’s residence to report progress. Both Mr and Mrs Scott were present. During the conversation Mrs Scott said “I hope Mr Kelly you are not asking common people to take part as it may upset my soprano singing friend. I have been told that you have asked a Barman to take part.” Robert replied, “Your information is quite correct. The man is a Barman through force of circumstance. He is not (a) drunkard. He has been a professional Cornet player and is a very fine artiste. I am not ashamed to take part on a programme with him and I have sung with many greater singers than your lady friend. But my main point is this, I consider no one common who knows how to conduct themselves properly and lead a decent life. But only greatest argument in this case is it is not necessary to try and convert those already converted to the Temperance Cause but rather to criticise those who seldom go to meetings of this nature. A chance remark at the meeting might benefit their future welfare.” 
Following up the idea of the Great Central Hall in Manchester and elsewhere eventually the Rev Gentleman said, “I am afraid Mother, Mr Kelly has got the best of the argument.”  Final Result was the hall was packed, many people could not get in; concert a huge success, everyone satisfied, including the soprano singer’s friend. At a later period a great personal friend of Roberts who was also previously employed on the Railway construction was made mayor of Bloemfontein. Robert gave up his job at Lead? River Mills near Ladybird to join his younger brother at Noupoort Junction, Cape Province. This was also on the Railways. There was considerable adjustment and improvements made in the area. He came under his old Railway Engineer again who had been made District Engineer with Headquarters at Naauwport.

A very happy time was spent in Noupoort
. On arrival Robert purchased another Basuto pony and was able to visit outgoing farms in the District. Soon after arrival he was persuaded to join up with the good Templars and was soon required to take charge of the Lodge finishing up as Grand Lodge Deputy. Robert refused to take charge of the Lodge until they consented to close the Lodge by 9 pm and then throw the meeting open to the public. The consequence was that so many joined up there was practically no business in the hotel bar. 

Music compelled people to join up and not hard dry speeches. The District Engineer came along and played his violin. His good lady sang and played the piano. Even the hotel proprietor’s wife went along to sing. It all made for a happy community. It was suggested getting up a Noupoort Orchestra. 
Robert and a young man from the Isle of Skye who in later years became Robert’s General Foreman entered into the scheme with a will. The District Engineer, Mr J.W.A.  Rose, was elected conductor. Mr R. J. Munro, the young man from Skye, was chief organizer and made all arrangements for the music. Robert advanced the money to purchase the piano. The orchestra was worked up to over twenty members employed on the railways in addition to a free railway ticket once a year were entitled to a Quarter rate ticket once a month. Often a large party got together, including members of the orchestra. A couple of carriages could be hooked on to a suitable fast train. The party going to Cradock
, 
, De Aar or somewhere else. Give a concert before returning. They were thus able to pay the full cost of these quarter rate tickets and any other incidental expenses. With cash left over to be devoted to any great cause favoured by them. Robert and his brother David travelling to Cradock to attend a Masonic meeting in a Guards Van met with a very exciting experience going down the Carlton Bank. The steepest gradient on the Johannesburg-Port Elizabeth Railway line something went wrong with the vacuum brake. The train was out of control. The Guard tried out his hand brake. It proved to be useless. Robert called to the Guard and his brother David to get down flat on the floor of the Brake Van. It looked like going over a very steep bank at any moment.

 The Engine driver managed to get through without accident but it was touch and go for all on the train. The train had crashed through a mile beyond the next siding before the driver could get control and pull up. Robert said it was about half-hour afterwards that he really felt the shock.

It was while stationed at Noupoort that a Xmas holiday to Cape Town led up to the most wonderful and lasting event in his long life.

The brothers Kelly were entitled to annual leave and decided to visit Cape Town. The very day they arrived Robert called on a friend, just when about to leave, the friend said, “Wait a bit. In five to ten minutes two bonnie girls will be passing I will introduce you to them.”  
The girls turned out to be Jeanie Wilson (Robert’s future wife) and a younger sister. During over two weeks stay in Cape Town Robert spent all the time possible with Jeanie. She saw him off at Cape Town Station on his return to Noupoort. A few friendly letters passed between them, and casually ceased, and they were completely out of touch in everyway. Robert said to David one day: “It is time for me to get back to Johannesburg as it has always been my idea to settle down there.” David said, “All right, I will go with you.” 
They said goodbye to their friends in Noupoort and took the train to Johannesburg.

On the day they arrived going for a walk in Pritchard Street in the evening who should they meet but Jeanie and a girlfriend. It was a complete surprise for both Jeanie and Robert. They kept company, went about together but it was a sudden serious illness that made Robert realize how much he loved her. They became engaged “Nothing formal about it” but looking forward, sharing each others views up to the happy marriage event.

When the first part of the union was put through by Captain Von Brandis at his office and completed in the Wesleyan Methodist Church by the Rev, Thos. H. Wainman
 the large church was packed with crowds outside. Ms Bassett inside was at the organ and there was a full choir.

It was intended to have a very quiet wedding. No invitations were sent out but as the coming event became known congratulations and wedding presents were sent along in a
most astonishing manner. Jeanie was simply loved by all who knew her and Robert so well known in musical circles. Something had to be done (The home had been prepared and furnished beforehand). Food and drink (not forgetting the wedding cake) were got ready. The friends were invited to the house in the evening at 9.0 p.m.
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David and Robert 
The newly married couple slipped off quietly and boarded the train for Cape Town leaving the friends in charge of brother David. There was singing and dancing the party breaking up at 4.0 am the following morning. On arrival at Cape Town Jeanie’s father was at the station to meet them. They received a hearty welcome from the old gentleman and Jeanie’s stepmother. Strange to relate the stepmother was a passenger on the Norham Castle although they had never met on the boat another lady who travelled on the Norham Castle same voyage married Jeanie’s brother. Another little incident when David Kelly came to South Africa he was nineteen years of age. He met a lady passenger on the Roslin Castle coming to Johannesburg to be married. David later married the lady’s eldest daughter. Although there was a great difference in age they were very happy. 
Now getting back to the earning of one’s daily bread soon after Robert arrived in Johannesburg from Noupoort he was appointed Works Manager to a Hollander Building Syndicate at a great salary. While at the same time he had their permission to look after his private interest in a brickyard. The latter was attended to in the evening as a Manager was employed in the Brickyard. The Hollander Architect to the Syndicate a Mr Wegerhoff was a very able man, really knew his job and a real gentleman from a business standpoint inclined to be extravagant in his way of living “but that was his own private affair”. It was a pleasure to work with him. During the progress of a number of residential buildings in Belgravia and Fairview the chairman of the syndicate, Mr Van Amstel Holman (?) and the architect told Robert that the syndicate had secured a concession from the Transvaal Government to erect certain large buildings on the Union Ground
 near Joubert Park. The architect gave Robert the full detailed drawings for the first position (one side only) the other sides to be filled up later to the same design. The general layout of the whole of the Union ground was completed.

The architect was aware that Robert was making out estimates and supporting tenders for some of the layer buildings to be erected in the town and requested him to submit a tender to the syndicate for the completion of the first portion as shown on the plan. The architect said; “Mr Kelly I am satisfied you know your job. Therefore I am asking you in confidence to go very carefully into everything. You have to take off your own quantities and your priced bills of quantities will form the basis for costing the future extension. But in the first instance send in a lump sum tender. I know you have enough bricks already made to complete the work. I wish you to leave a fair price giving you a profit but make it as reasonable as possible as it is not the intention to ask anyone else. In making out your estimate do not put anything on for me. My architectural fees will be quite enough for me. The site plan showed where a statue of President Paul Kruger was to be erected. The prime cost to be allowed for the statue and to be included in the tender was £2,000- (Two thousand pounds stg.). (Robert has often thought this may have been the statue that 
was supposed to have been sent to Delagoa Bay
 during the Boer War).

The Tender submitted to the syndicate was £75,000 − (seventy five thousand pounds stg.) and was provisionally accepted. Robert was introduced to Mr Bob Stroyan brother to John Stroyan who was to put up the money for the syndicate and as far as one could judge everything was in order to make a start with the work. The job appeared so certain to go on that Robert called on Mr A H Stucke architect to withdraw his tender for the erection of Lowenstein Building, Market Square. Mr Stucke who had told Robert that he intended accepting Robert’s tender being very annoyed. The tender for proposed buildings on the Union Ground was made out near the time of the great explosion
 when two trucks of explosives went off in the Braamfontein Railway Yard and just previous to Lowenstein Building being started. The proposed buildings were to be called the “Johannesburg Permanent Exhibition Buildings” and after a certain period a portion was to be made over to the Johannesburg Town Council. In the meantime there was a great deal of political agitation. The whole community all agog and restless followed at the end of December 1895 with the Jameson Raid
 and the following all round slump? When thousands of well to do people were financially ruined. What happened afterwards to the Union Ground scheme is difficult to explain. One version given to Robert was that John Stroyan refused to advance the money necessary. The other version was that the backers finding out that the syndicate couldn’t carry on alone tried to secure the concession. 

Whatever happened, the scheme fell through. Eventually it leaked out that there was a danger that the Union Ground open space might be lost to the town. There were many letters in the daily papers. In fact there was a general outcry denouncing the idea of tampering with the Union Ground. Newspaper men were seeking information everywhere. While all this was going on Robert made a copy of the main document and drawing in his office signed by highly placed members of the government executive committee. 

Robert understood the architect received quite a considerable amount of payment on account of work done. He was the only one to benefit in any way from the scheme. Robert eventually completed the work in hand by the syndicate under an agreed contract estimate. The chairman of the syndicate and also the architect
 disappeared from 
Johannesburg. The chairman married a young lady. She was in Holland while he was in the Transvaal. It was some form of using a glove as a marriage symbol and he put his property in his wife’s name. That form of marriage may have been upheld in Holland but it proved to be all wrong in the Transvaal. Sometime previous to the Jameson Raid tenders were called for the building of (the) Exploration Buildings commission - a building of considerable size. Edmonson and Thomas even just below Robert’s tender and they secured the contract. But Edmonson and Thomas received a quotation from Robert to supply all the bricks for the building at the rate of £5 − (Five pounds stg.) per thousand. 

Previous to putting in their tender and there was a verbal promise to accept the quotation should they secure the job. Robert was bound to supply in the written quotation. But the offer was provisionally accepted. “but no written acceptance.”   

Robert was never asked to supply a brick to the job even at a lower price. The Jameson Raid had ruined the building trade for a time and the brick was scarce “in some instances” as low as £1−10−0 (thirty shillings) per thousand. Robert had about two million brick all ready for delivery. The only large stacks in Johannesburg at the time and were compelled to sell stocks below half the original value. In addition the brick business was ruined for some time to come. Robert decided to leave off making and supplying brick and give full time to building operation. Robert had a partner in the brick making business. He met him first in Bloemfontein where had been employed as Foreman Bricklayer on the hospital. He was later Foreman Bricklayer on the S. A. Mutual Building in Bloemfontein and was also on the S. A. Mutual Building Johannesburg. He was a Londoner. An extraordinary clever bricklayer. Robert and this man thought a Brickyard would pay if well managed. The partner being always used to the making of brick. The practical side of the business was left to him. 
Charlie as we must call him turned out to be a most amazing character. Robert always found him to be a very honest and upright man in all his dealings. He was steady, had great faith in, and respect for most kinds of religion. But preferred a place of worship where he could join in the singing.

Robert and Charlie after the Jameson Raid lived in a cottage near the Market Square, Fordsburg, to be near the brickyard. One Xmas eve Robert returned to the cottage and found Charlie quietly weeping and said “What is the matter Charlie?” Charlie replied, “I want to lead a good life and I am thinking and worrying about the past.” Robert said quite in a casual way quite unthinkingly, “You sound like a married man that had run away and left his family.” Robert had hit the mark. Although he had known Charlie for a long time no one had any idea that he was a married man. Robert said to Charlie “You cannot hope to be happy until you find out where your wife is and give your wife and daughter any assistance necessary.”

Charlie told Robert what had happened in London. Charlie said “I was a young man full of life. I liked taking a girl out at times. I was fond of the Variety Theatre and was great on attending smoking concerts” where he often gave a song. He had been taking a girl out often and eventually compelled to marry her, everything went along happily for a short time. But later the wife showed considerable temper and objected to him going out to smoking concerts etc “Life became so miserable I cleared out and joined the Royal Engineers”. 

Eventually he got to South Africa and became a deserter making his way up country to the Orange Free State. He had never heard anything of his wife since leaving her. 

Charlie asked Robert to write a letter which he wanted copy and sent to his wife hoping that his letter might find her. In due course a reply came telling Charlie that she and his daughter were prepared to come to Johannesburg but that she would have to bring the other six children with her. Charlie was furious and was out for a divorce right away. Robert said, “No Charlie, you are more to blame than your wife. You left a wife and child in London. The wife having to battle through alone without any supports “London above all places”. Give her a chance to divorce you for “desertion”. Charlie wouldn’t hear of it. 

Robert saw his lawyer. Robert and the lawyer between them persuaded Charlie to give way. The Lawyer to write to her telling her that every assistance would be given to her to be free to marry the man she was living with and that Charlie’s daughter would be fully provided for. A letter arrived back chock full of hate threatening to finish him if she could get hold of him. Charlie then took action and secured a divorce. Afterwards he sent for his daughter. When she arrived Charlie was again in tears. 

He expected to find a little girl; he was going to have her taught to play the piano. He hoped she could sing, he would get his friend Bassett Nichols to train her. His daughter a fine good looking girl was five feet nine inches tall. It was the shock of his life. He was good to her. But she soon wanted to go back home again. She had been brought up by her grandmother. Charlie arranged to provide for the daughter and grandmother. The daughter had been employed in a hat Manufactory in Luton near London.   

Charlie joined Robert in building contracts, but this couldn’t last. Charlie was a first class artisan as a bricklayer but entirely hopeless in business. But when the partnership ended they remained friends as before. But many of Charlie’s actions pointed to the fact that there was a screw loose somewhere. He was unbalanced.

When building Clifton Wesleyan Methodist Church Charlie was in charge of the masonry and brickworks, spending all his time at the job. Cement at the time was 60/− (sixty shillings) a cask. Robert attended a sale where a large quantity was being sold. The cement was perfect. But the end of a couple of broken casks (wooden casks) showed a hard crust at the end of (the) cask. But after this thin crust the cement was sound. Robert purchased the cement.

One day a foreman plasterer told Robert he was short of cement. Robert said “What have you done with it? There was more than enough delivered to complete the job.” He said, “Your partner has been using it in the brickworks.” 

Robert tackled Charlie who said, “Yes, I have used it. You purchased it at the price of lime and I thought it would make a better job.”

Robert said, “Well Charlie, This is £150 − (One hundred and fifty pounds) out of our pockets.” Poor Charlie said, “I never gave it a thought in that way.”

On another occasion at the same building, when Robert arrived there he could hear Charlie singing  “Queen of the Earth” 
, 
 at the top of his voice up on a high scaffold and the bricklayers sitting on the wall listening to him, instead of laying bricks. Of course Robert couldn’t find fault in front of all the workmen. But a partnership could not be continued on those lines. The following incidents go to prove Charlie was a bit off the rails. In many ways, a very sad and pathetic case. One day he decided to take a horse from the Brickfields and have a ride out into the country. It was on a Sunday morning. One of the natives put on saddle and bridle. The horse being used to going round in the Pug Mill, always one way, day after day, must have felt strange, in any case it wouldn’t travel strayed after a struggle. Charlie managed to get about three miles out. He was tired of pulling one side of the bridle rein all the time so let the horse have its head on a loose rein. The horse took him straight back to the Brickfields.

Charlie had never been used to horses and did not go riding on a Pug Mill horse again.

Charlie had met a young lady during the time the divorce case was pending and walked home with her on two occasions only. A cable came through from London saying everything (was) fixed up. On the day the cable came through Charlie said to Robert, 

“I like that girl and I am going along tonight to propose to her.”    Robert said, “Leave it out for the present. Get to know her better first. The whole thing would be so sudden, she is certain to turn you down. But he insisted on going and making a proposal of marriage.

Next day Robert asked him how he (had) got on. Charlie said, “You were quite right. The girl said it was all too strange and sudden.”  “But,” said Charlie “I told her everything and feel proud of the good speech I made when making my proposal.”

On another occasion it was when Robert was in Cape Town on his honeymoon, Charlie sold a kiln of brick to a coloured man named McKenzie. A matter of 50,000 brick. Gave the fellow the book to write out his own tickets. He had never seen the man before and they never received a penny for the brick. Charlie was honest in his dealings and therefore took it for granted that McKenzie would be honest. McKenzie must have sold the brick to a contractor as he himself only did a little cartage work.

When it was decided to make a division of the property in the Brickfields it came to Robert’s ears that Charlie was spending a lot of time running to and fro showing considerable worry. Someone was poisoning his mind and he got the idea he might be done down. Robert made out a list of everything held in joint partnership. (He) asked Charlie to come to dinner. Afterwards (he) took him to his office and showed him the inventory and said, “Are you satisfied it includes everything?” He replied “Yes.”

Robert said, “Here is some paper showing each item. You put down your estimated value of each item. I will act likewise on another paper.” (Charlie was no fool when values were concerned). “Take plenty of time.” 

When both had valued each item Robert said, “I propose we now add your value and my value of each item together. Then divide by two. We then have an agreed true value of everything. This will save the expense of bringing in outside assistance.” This was mutually agreed to. Robert said, “Now Charlie, you can buy me out at the value agreed upon or I am willing to buy you out. Alternately I will buy you out giving you the right to retain any item at the fixed price.”

Charlie wished to leave Johannesburg for Bloemfontein. Too many of his friends in Johannesburg had heard of his divorce case and being of a sensitive nature he wished to clear out. Robert bought him out with the exception of several plots of ground and a quantity of brick. Charlie was overjoyed saying he never expected such a straight deal. On leaving he asked Robert if he would look after his interests. Robert looked after the plots for him and after the Boer War was able to get £500 − (five hundred pounds stg.)  for plots previously purchased at an average of £55 − (fifty five pounds stg.) per plot. Charlie came up from Bloemfontein, signed the documents, received his money in full. 

While in Johannesburg Charlie purchased a brand new bicycle. When riding along Commissioner Street, going towards Robert’s home he had a collision with some other vehicle, the wheel of the bicycle was bent a little, Charlie was unhurt. 
[image: image9.jpg]



Commissioner Street, Johannesburg in the 1890's 

A crowd gathered quickly, a native seemed very interested. Charlie called out to the native, and in his impulsive way said, “Boy you may have this.” Handing him a good machine, “Perhaps it will be of more use to you than me?”

Charlie who had made his home in Bloemfontein invested a considerable amount of money (In fact all he had) in house property and apparently was happy and contented and also had his life covered by insurance. When suddenly he became insane and was confined in a lunatic asylum until he died. Fortunately he had previously made a will leaving everything to his only child. “It was a short illness”. 

Previous to getting married Robert built himself a very up to date house in Main Street, Fraserburg, as he did not require the house to live in for a time he let the house to a stockbroker on a monthly basis. This man didn’t want to leave and was allowed to remain. When the Boer War
,
 came the place was locked up. But when the war was over Robert required the house to live in but the tenant did not want to leave and made an offer to purchase the house. The house was sold to him. A certain amount of cash was paid. The balance to be paid in instalments but Robert’s luck was out. This man committed suicide.

It appeared the man was in financial difficulties went to the racecourse and lost £500 − . He first tried to throw himself under a train in Jeppe’s Station. Was pulled away later the same day cut his throat in the bathroom. Needless to say the balance was never paid. Robert was glad he had never sent this man a threatening or nasty letter.

The most unforgettable ‘send off’ to a foreman and friend of his employers that Robert had ever known was near the time of the Jameson Raid. There were six persons all told at the party. The employer was a very well off property owner, builder and contractor. The six had to make a meal of bread and butter, jam, tea and condensed milk (no sugar), two tins of sardines, ½ lb cheese and the guest’s health was toasted in a cheap brand of lukewarm ginger ale and lemonade. Needless to say the host was a Sunday School Superintendent who told the younger generation how they should behave themselves. This same man purchased a large number of stones about a mile from the centre of the town for a very low figure. While in England for a holiday,  a cable was sent to him with a huge offer for the stones advising him to sell. He agreed to sell. He received ten times as much as he paid for them. He only held the stones nine months. Just after he came back someone told him that the purchaser was offered a further profit. The old chap was so upset that he didn’t hold out for the greater profit he went to bed for a month and was really ill. All through the thought of the other man getting a profit that he should have had, It was gravest afterwards the other man did not get the offer and sold it at a loss.

The same man thought he could make money again by buying and selling vacant ground. He purchased some land at a high price thinking they would go up in value whereas the values in the neighbourhood went down and he lost all he had made on the previous deal. Johannesburg was a town you couldn’t do the same thing a second time. He had forgotten it was pure luck the first time.

Going back to the time spent in Bloemfontein, Robert and his partner was sent to Springfontein to take down an Engineer’s section house, for removal further up the Zisie (?) Two other men arrived to remove two small huts. One of them named Coxen was found leaving a bath in a corrugate Iron Rain Water Tank. He got in at the manhole “Top of Tank” and couldn’t get out. There he was calling for assistance to pull him out. The others were so wild of this fellow having a bath in their only cooking and drinking water they left him in the tank, with his head only sticking up above the manhole for a long time. By the time Coxen was pulled out he was half dead. It had been raining and the night bitterly cold. Coxen would never try that game again as long as he lived.

When working on the Platelayers
 cottage between Bloemfontein and the Vaal River they lived in canvas tents lined with green base and often passed their time in the evening playing a game of cards. One night when near Kroonstad on a return visit to a Cornish Mason’s tent, a young lad in his teens said to his father, “I would as soon be in hell as in this tent when you are all playing cards.” The father said, “Don’t worry my son. You are certain to find your way to the place you have just mentioned. Nothing is more certain.”

It was in connection with platelayer’s cottages to be erected in the Kroonstad District Robert had something unusual carried out. Oatmeal (?) was all prepacked (prepared?) in Bloemfontein ready to be railed to destination. No goods train was due to leave for many days. Robert heard the Chief Engineer had arrived from Cape Town and was leaving the following day for the Rail Head. When he mentioned about getting his railway wagon’s away on the Chief Engineer’s train he was laughed at. Never heard of such a thing. It was a special train and that was final. Robert made a point of finding Mr R. E. Brownger, and “The Chief” and said he would like to speak to him for a moment. Mr Brownger inquired what he wants. Robert said, “I understand the cottages are required urgently. Would he consider the suggestion of hooking Robert’s waggon on to his special? It being a straight run to through to Kroonstad?”     

Brownger said, “I am not in the habit of letting goods on any special train. I like your explanation and I like your pluck in seeing me. Your wagon will go on my train tomorrow.”

It was in the Kroonstad District Robert was able to stop a train “running at high speed” from dashing into a stationary train without lights “both on a single track”,  just after daylight by lighting some candles and holding them behind a red pocket handkerchief. It all happened just in the nick of time as the train was approaching from a concealed bend. 

Previous to the Jameson Raid, a certain architect asked Robert if he would call on McPherson’s plumber and tell him he wished to see him.  The work was completed and the account sent to architect. The architect was not satisfied with charges made. Later the architect left the district and the account remained unpaid. The work was carried out in November. The same plumbing firm completed some work for Robert and was paid, holding back 20/− retention until everything was found in order. In April,  over five months after the work for architect was carried out, Robert had received a receipt for the   20/− signed by Smythe a partner and mentioned in settlement of all accounts to date clearly showing Robert had nothing to do with the architect’s work. Quite a long time afterwards there was a partnership of three in the firm. McPherson, Dunthwaite & Smythe.    Dunthwaite thought he would be clever and send a demand to Robert. Robert told him if he called at his office he would show him the receipt. Dunthwaite put the matter in the hands of Harry Hoffmyer, who was afterward Mayor of the Town
. When the case came to court Robert’s lawyer produced the receipt.  Harry Hoffmyer withdrew the case and gave Dunthwaite a proper telling off. Before leaving the court house Dunthwaite had the cheek to approach Robert and say, “I hope you will allow me to tender for your work. I tried to recover the architect’s account from you thinking you are better able to stand the loss.”

A couple of years later a foundation stone for a church in the southern suburbs was being laid. Robert and his wife went to the ceremony. Who should be one of the leading lights there but Dunthwaite. Robert said, “This is no place for us” and returned home.

In the early days when transport was difficult and very expensive Robert got together musical people to give concerts along the mining road often in aid of church funds. On these occasions the minister arranged with Watson the undertaker to take out the concert party in the funeral transport getting this done free of charge, for services rendered at burial services. One night through a breakdown at Roodepoort after 10 p.m. the people who kept the meeting going as long as possible were leaving the hall but they returned to the hall the concert finishing at midnight and then return over 15 miles by horse transport everybody content and happy.    
Endnotes
� Victoria,   Alexandrina Victoria 20 June 1837  –  22 January 1901


Edward VII,  Albert Edward 22 January 1901   –  6 May 1910


George V,  George Frederick Ernest Albert 6 May 1910   –     20 January 1936


Edward VIII,  Edward Albert Christian George Andrew Patrick David     20 January 1936    –   11 December 1936 (abdicated)


George VI,   Albert Frederick Arthur George11 December 1936  – 6 February 1952


See also endnote i, pps. 51-57,  Boer War 








� Ref. Twas Thus and Thus They Lived, Margaret Kelly. Published by The Manx Heritage Foundation, 1987. P.189. It is conceivable that RW Kelly’s notebook of reminiscences may have been written by a third party from Robert’s recalling from memory memorable events from his life.


� RWK does not include the year of birth for any of his children in his notebook. They are included here to assist with interpreting the chronology of Robert’s memoirs.


� The Norham Castle, together with her sister ships the Hawarden Castle and the Roslin Castle, was a mail steamer of 4 241 tons designed to meet the requirements of the new mail contract of 1883. This contract stipulated that the outward voyage from Dartmouth to Table Bay, South Africa, should not exceed 21 days.


Built by John Elder & Co. at Glasgow with a tonnage of 4012grt, a length of 380ft 7in, a beam of 48ft 2in and a service speed of 12 knots. Sister of the Hawarden Castle she was built for the Mail service and in June 1887 was one of the two Castle ships at Queen Victoria's Jubilee review at Spithead. Transferred to Union-Castle on the merger she was sold in 1903 to Compagnie Général Transatlantique for their Bordeaux to West Indies service and rename Martinique. She was eventually broken up in Italy during 1932. The Union-Castle Line was a British shipping line that operated a fleet of passenger liners and cargo ships between Europe and Africa from 1900 to 1977. It was formed from the merger of the Union Line and Castle Shipping Line.


� Donald Currie & Company / Currie's Calcutta Castles / Castle Mail Packet Company


Formed in 1862 by Donald Currie as Donald Currie & Co. to run a regular sailing ship service to India and familiarly known as "Currie's Calcutta Castles". The first steamships entered service on the India route in 1872 and the same year, a passenger and private mail service from the UK to South Africa was inaugurated. In 1876 the company became Castle Mail Packet Co. Ltd. and a joint mail contract was awarded together with the Union SS Co. Calls at Flushing began in 1889 resulting in the grant of a contract to carry Dutch mails to South Africa and in 1900 Castle Line merged with the Union SS Co. to form Union-Castle Mail SS Co. � HYPERLINK "http://www.theshipslist.com/ships/lines/castle.shtml" �http://www.theshipslist.com/ships/lines/castle.shtml�


� One can only imagine the lure of gold and diamonds in those Victorian days. A report that appeared in the Mona’s Herald of 24th November 1886, tells of Joe Mylchreest and his family receiving a splendid welcome in Peel on a visit back to the Isle of Man during a 6-month European Tour.  News of his great success in the diamond fields of South Africa had travelled ahead of him. They were all so proud of it was at this time they decided to call him “The Diamond King”.  He was also in great demand in the Island to tell of his adventures. On one of these occasions he was in Ballaugh, talking to the young men in the village hall. Brian Mylchreest’s book records that Daniel Corlett was amongst his audience on that occasion and it is quite feasible that the young Robert Kelly was also there. At this time Robert was completing his course as a future builder and contractor with Messrs J & S Kewley� of Castle Street, Douglas and as Corlett was an apprentice stonemason it is possible they knew each other even training in the same place. Robert would have been 21 years of age. Dan Corlett went to Johannesburg in 1887. [The Diamond King – The Story of Joseph Mylchreest and the Mylchreests of Peel – by his grandson, Brian Mylchreest. ISBN 0952112639, Nelson Press Co. Ltd Kingswood Grove, Douglas, Isle of Man, IM13LY, First published 1993]. Robert Kelly went to Johannesburg 2 years later in 1889 and Dan Corlett became Mayor of Johannesburg in 1931-32.  � HYPERLINK "http://www.sahistory.org.za/topic/johannesburg-mayors-and-other-city-officials" �http://www.sahistory.org.za/topic/johannesburg-mayors-and-other-city-officials�. Robert was a member of the Johannesburg Municipal Council, representing Ward 8 and was Vice-Chairman of the Works Committee. Who’s who entry 1927/28.


� “Madeira was interesting with” would read better although the handwriting is quite clear with the word ‘indicated’.





� See the World Methodist Council history -  The Methodist Church in Zimbabwe which originated in 


Wesleyan British Methodism came to Zimbabwe under the leadership of Rev. Owen Watkins and Rev. 


Isaac Shimmin, who arrived at Fort Salisbury on September 29, 1891. The first mission stations were 


established at Fort Salisbury (1891); Hartlyton (1891); Nenguwo (Waddilove) (1892); and Kwenda 


(1892). For further detail regarding the link between Shimmin and Rhodes  see Historical Dictionary of 


Methodism by Charles Yrigoyen Jr., Susan E. Warrick, Scarecrow Press; 2nd Revised edition (16 Mar. 2005), ISBN-10: 0810854511 


� Matjiesfontein was founded in 1884 by the legendary and energetic Scottish railwayman James Douglas    


    Logan. See also Dean Allen’s book on Empire War and Cricket and Logan’s political manoeuvrings   


    around dining rooms  and catering monopoly on the line. Ibid private communication, Katherine Munro.


� De Aar is a town in the Northern Cape, South Africa. It has a population of around 42,000 inhabitants. It 


    is the second-most important railway junction in the country, situated on the line between Cape Town 


    and Kimberley. The junction was of particular strategic importance to the British during the Second Boer 


    War. De Aar is also a primary commercial distribution centre for a large area of the central Great Karoo. 


    Major production activities of the area include wool production and livestock farming. The area is also 


    popular for hunting, although the region is rather arid. De Aar is also affectionately known as "Die SES" 


    deriving its nickname from the six farms that have surrounded De Aar since 1900.


     De Aar was originally established on the Farm "De Aar." The name means "the artery," a reference to its 


     underground water supply. The Cape Government Railways were founded in 1872, and the route that 


     the government chose for the line to connect the Kimberley diamond fields to Cape Town on the coast, 


     ran directly through De Aar. Because of its central location, the government also selected the location 


    for a junction between this first railway line, and the other Cape railway networks further east, in 1881. 


       In 1899 two brothers who ran a trading store and hotel at the junction, Isaac and Wulf Friedlander, 


     purchased the farm of De Aar. Following the Anglo Boer War, the Friedlander brothers surveyed the 


     land for the establishment of a town. The municipality was created a year later and the town’s first 


     mayor, Dr Harry Baker, was elected in 1907.  Internet accessed 19/06/2017.





� See Kimberley McGregor Museum for information about James Halsall. Ibid Katherine Munro.


� See information about Manxmen serving in the Boer war at � HYPERLINK "http://www.isle-of-man.com/manxnotebook/history/military/boer1.htm" �http://www.isle-of-man.com/manxnotebook/history/military/boer1.htm�  Ibid Katherine Munro.


� By 1889 the Cape railway line went as far as Kimberley  with next phase still to be taken further to reach the Rand – Cape Town to Johannesburg reached by rail in 1892.  Ibid Katherine Munro


� “The Booysens Hotel was first built in 1887 at the entrance of Johannesburg’s mining town. The hotel industry revolution induced many changes and renovations, however the hotel’s ‘holistic outlook” still remain intact - but with a modern facility and designs reminiscent of both the French Huguenot and Cape Dutch Style. The best of its kind in the South of Johannesburg Funded by the IDC (Industrial Development Corporation) this company, this hotel is representative of a multi-million Rand into the Conference and Function Industry.”


� Barney Barnato (21 February 1851 – 14 June 1897), born Barnet Isaacs, was a British � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Randlord" �Randlord�, one of the entrepreneurs who gained significant control of diamond mining, and later gold mining, in South Africa from the 1870s. He is perhaps best remembered as being a rival of Cecil Rhodes. Barney Barnato claimed he had the same birthday as Cecil Rhodes (5 July 1853). Most biographies give his date of birth as 5 July 1852. However, his birth certificate (supported by census data) shows he was born Barnet Isaacs in � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Aldgate" �Aldgate�, London on 21 February 1851, the son of Isaac and Leah Isaacs. See SA Dictionary of National Biography for further detail. Barnato founded Johannesburg Consolidated Investments Co. Ltd. In 1889.


� The Waterworks company is in Doornfontein. In an article focussing on issues of safe water and sanitation in Cape Town, Grahamstown, Durban and Johannesburg in the period 1840-1920, the author explains Environmental health had its modern-day roots in the sanitation and public health movement of the United Kingdom in the nineteenth century. The field addresses all human health-related aspects of both the natural environment and the built environment. At the time the introduction and augmentation of water supply and sanitary reform were among the most important municipal issues to be addressed. For further detail see Comparing developments in water supply, sanitation and environmental health in four South African cities, 1840-1920. Harri Mäki ONLINenOn-line version ISSN 2309-8392


PRINTenPrint version ISSN 0018-229X  Historia vol.55 n.1 Durban May. 2010





� Professor Katherine Munro notes this evidence of earning is of interest and further notes that a comparison between construction work wages and mining wages is needed.  


� Professor Katherine Munro advises this church would have been Saint Mary’s, now called  St Mary’s the Less. See contemporary image of church at footnote ii on page 54.


� The Hydes were major figures in the early musical history of Johannesburg. See also Thelma Gutsche’s history of the Wanderers Club – Old Gold. Ibid Katherine Munro.


� For a summary of the history and significance of the Boer War, see endnote iv on pps. 55-56


� A chronic lung disease, common among coal miners, due to the inhalation of coal dust; - called also (collier's lung) and (miner's phthisis). [Webster1913]. Fibroid phthisis caused by the inhalation of coal dust. [Kober1916]. See Research paper, The Profits of Death: A Comparative Study of Miners Phthisis in Cornwall and the Transvaal, 1876-1918 by Gillian Burke and Peter Richardson. Paper first given to the South African Seminar at Queen Elizabeth House, University of Oxford in November 1977. Downloaded 07/06/2017 from  �HYPERLINK "http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/03057077808707983?journalCode=cjss20"�http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/03057077808707983?journalCode=cjss20� . See also Elaine Katz’s work on Miners’ Phthisis – the standard work is White Death. Ibid Katherine Munro.








� On 4 March 1890, when Kruger visited Johannesburg, men sang British patriotic songs, tore down and trampled on the vierkleur at the city landdrost's office, and rioted outside the house where the President was staying.[152] One of the agitators accused him of treating the uitlanders with contempt; Kruger retorted: "I have no contempt for the new population, only for people like yourself."[144] The riot was broken up by police and the � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/South_African_Chamber_of_Mines" �Chamber of Mines� issued an apology, which Kruger accepted, saying only a few of the uitlanders had taken part. Few Boers were as conciliatory as Kruger; Meintjes marks this as "the point where the rift between the Transvaalers and the uitlanders began."[144]   Meintjes,  � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Paul_Kruger" \l "CITEREFMeintjes1974" �https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Paul_Kruger#CITEREFMeintjes1974�


� Professor Katherine Munro informs that in the event this was untrue and Kruger did visit Johannesburg again at the time of the Braamfontein Dynamite explosion.


� Willem Johannes Leyds (�HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Magelang"�Magelang�, � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dutch_East_Indies" �Dutch East Indies�, 1 May 1859 – � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/The_Hague" �The Hague�, � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Netherlands" �Netherlands�, 14 May 1940) was a Dutch lawyer and statesman, who made a career as State Attorney (1884-1889) and State Secretary (1889-1898) of the � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/South_African_Republic" �South African Republic�. From 1898 to 1902, during the crucial period of the � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/South_African_War" �South African War�, he was the Republic’s Special Envoy and Minister Plenipotentiary in � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Brussels" �Brussels�, accredited to several European states. Wikipedia


� Captain Carl von Brandis was the first official Mining Commissioner of the Witwatersrand and, shortly thereafter, the first magistrate of Johannesburg.  Professor Katherine Munro further advises that Von Brandis was a very important figure in early Johannesburg history and that there is a statue of him in the town and that he is buried in the Braamfontein cemetery.  See  fuller history at endnote iv, pps. 62-64





� In the early 1890s  Doornfontein was the suburb  of  important and significance .  Ibid Katherine Munro. 


� Orange Grove is to the North and Booysens to the South of Johannesburg.


� Johannesburg's first slump occurred in 1891, as reported in the SA Mining Journal of 1912, brought about when all the alluvial gold had run dry, and serious capital was needed to mine below the surface.


Alluvial gold is found beneath the surface at the bottom of a creak or stream. Alluvial gold mining is the process of extracting gold from these creaks, rivers and streams and is generally considered to be the most environmentally friendly method of gold mining as a result of the reduced environmental impact when compared to underground mining.  Alluvial gold deposits form over time where a river runs, or has previously run through ground which is rich in gold. The erosive power of the water removes the surrounding rock due to its comparative low density while the heavier gold resists being moved. 


In part the slump in 1891 was caused by a switch from outcrop to deep level mining. See the significance of the McArthur Forest Cyanide process. Ibid Katherine Munro.   





� This occurred in 1891.  Robert was 26 and Jeanie 19 years old.


� Crossing point on the Orange River .  Note spelling has changed to Norvalspont  Norvalspont is a small town in � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Pixley_ka_Seme_District_Municipality" �Pixley ka Seme District Municipality� in the � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Northern_Cape" �Northern Cape� province of � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/South_Africa" �South Africa�.


The settlement lies some 40 km east-north-east of � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Colesberg" �Colesberg� and 43 km west-north-west of � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Venterstad" �Venterstad�, on the southern bank of the � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Orange_River" �Orange River�, just below the � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gariep_Dam" �Gariep Dam�. Afrikaans for Norval’s ferry, it is named after an enterprising Scot who constructed a ferry here in 1848.[2]


The first bridge across the Orange River was built in 1889. The bridge was blown up during the � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Second_Boer_War" �Second Boer War�. There was also a large concentration camp for Afrikaner women and children at Norvalspont during the Second Boer War. Ibid Katherine Munro.


� Gauging Railway Trolley


� Looked at in retrospect the juxtaposition of native and boy together has come to be seen as a doubly pejorative term. “Understanding why you don't call a black man a boy. For those who think that African Americans are too sensitive over this issue, and it's just a well-meaning person making a mistake, I understand that. But others must understand the history of African Americans, and what it has always meant to black men for someone to call them a "boy."One, it's the ultimate sign of disrespect, and is often more offensive than calling them the N-word. For years black men were summarily dismissed and treated with disregard. It was as if their stature was diminished when someone white called them a boy. I've heard black men describe the hurt and pain of growing up and having someone white call them a boy in front of their own child.”  � HYPERLINK "https://www.thoughtco.com/terms-many-dont-know-are-racist-2834522" �https://www.thoughtco.com/terms-many-dont-know-are-racist-2834522�  Accessed 15/09/2017. Despite its widespread use as a racial putdown, the U.S. Court of Appeals � HYPERLINK "http://www.schr.org/action/resources/term_boy_is_proof_of_racial_animus" �decided� that "boy" cannot be considered a racial slur unless it's prefaced with a racial marker such as "black." This decision has sparked controversy.


Readers interested in examining this issue further are referred to Richard Wright’s 1945 memoir Black Boy, which is a brutal and disturbing portrait of this best-selling, award-winning author's experiences in the American South during the 1920s. Hungry, degraded, and living under the constant threat of violence and death, Wright somehow emerged as a self-respecting man of ideas, and so his story is as inspiring as it is upsetting. The book, which reads like a novel, shows numerous incidents of white-on-black and black-against-black violence -- from children being "whipped" to teens assaulting each other, to adults being shot and killed. There's some profanity, but most foul is the combination of cruel language with racial slurs ("black bastard," "stupid n----r"). Also disturbing is Wright's indoctrination to alcohol as a child. Younger teens may need some guidance to comprehend the effects of Wright's living with so much deprivation and under the constant threat of physical harm. � HYPERLINK "https://www.commonsensemedia.org/book-reviews/black-boy" �https://www.commonsensemedia.org/book-reviews/black-boy� Accessed 16/09/2017


� gradients


� David Kelly


� Type of cart or wagon


� From the Yiddish for travelling sales man – an archetypical figure in South African history – they often 


    brought useful small items, fabrics medicines, metal tools etc to the farms and outlying areas and 


    provided a useful service. Ibid Katherine Munro.   


� Thaba 'Nchu is a town in Free State, South Africa, located 60 km east of Bloemfontein.


� Ladybrand is a small agricultural town in the Free State province of South Africa, situated 18 km from 


     Maseru, the capital of Lesotho. Ladybrand is one of five towns that forms the Mantsopa Local 


     Municipality. Founded in 1867 following the Basotho Wars, it was named after Lady (Catharina) Brand, 


     the wife of the president of the � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Orange_Free_State" �Orange Free State�, � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Johannes_Brand" �Johannes Brand�.


� See online archive full text � HYPERLINK "https://archive.org/stream/historywesleyan00whitgoog/historywesleyan00whitgoog_djvu.txt" �https://archive.org/stream/historywesleyan00whitgoog/historywesleyan00whitgoog_djvu.txt�





� Noupoort is a town in the eastern � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Karoo" �Karoo� region of � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/South_Africa" �South Africa�. Situated 54 km south of � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Colesberg" �Colesberg� and 45 km north of � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Rosmead_Junction&action=edit&redlink=1" �Rosmead Junction�. It was laid out on a portion of the farm Caroluspoort, was administered by a village management board from 1937 and attained municipal status in 1942. Afrikaans for ‘narrow pass’, the name refers to a gap in the � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Carlton_Hills&action=edit&redlink=1" �Carlton Hills� 27 km to the north-west.[2]


It revolved principally around the railways and is still used as traction change-over facility from diesel to electric locomotives on the Noupoort-� HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Bloemfontein" �Bloemfontein� line. It was serviced by Midlandia, a locomotive complex a few kilometers to the south of town, especially during the diesel era up to the late 1900s. Nowadays links up with the electric line to � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/De_Aar" �De Aar�, part of the main artery for iron ore and manganese exports from the � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Northern_Cape" �Northern Cape� through � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Port_Elizabeth" �Port Elizabeth� Harbour on the south coast.


Commercial activity in Noupoort is heavily dependent on railway activity. After a long period of increasingly less demand on the rail network, the town suffered from a drastic decline in local business leading to increasingly dire socioeconomic conditions for the local population. Poverty increased concomitantly with the decline in rail activity.


� Cradock is a town in the � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Eastern_Cape_Province" �Eastern Cape Province� of South Africa, in the upper valley of the � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Great_Fish_River" �Great Fish River�, 250 kilometres (160 mi) by road northeast of � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Port_Elizabeth" �Port Elizabeth�








� From list of Wesleyan ministers  - Wainman, Thomas H. entered the ministry 1882 and died 1921.


� named for Union football. Ibid Katherine Munro


� On 8 July 1895 the Delagoa Bay railway line was officially opened by Paul Kruger. Its link to Pretoria was completed on 20 October 1894.The railway line was completed a few years after the end of the first South African War (Anglo-Boer War) and the restoration of the Transvaal Republic after it was occupied by Britain in 1877.


This link between the land-locked Transvaal Republic and Delagoa Bay, situated on the southeast coast of Mozambique, was significant to both Presidents Burger and Kruger as it would give the Republic access to the port in Delagoa Bay, thereby making it independent of the harbours of the British Colonies located in Natal and the Cape. Subsequent to discovery of the main gold reef on the Rand in 1886 the matter gained even greater urgency.


After the line was finished transport became safer, quicker and more profitable. Initially, transport-riders used ox wagons to transport goods to Delagoa Bay; this meant they ran the risk of contracting malaria or encountering lions. 


Since the outbreak of the second South African War (Anglo-Boer War) the British had attempted to control the flow of supplies through the port in Delgoa Bay with varying degrees of success.


� HYPERLINK "http://www.sahistory.org.za/dated-event/delagoa-bay-railway-line-officially-opened" �http://www.sahistory.org.za/dated-event/delagoa-bay-railway-line-officially-opened� Accessed 19/06/2017


� Braamfontein is an early suburb of Johannesburg and there was a massive and catastrophic explosion there in 1896.  Private Communication, Professor Kathy Munro, 09/09/2017


� The Jameson Raid (29 December 1895 – 2 January 1896) was a botched raid against the South African Republic (commonly known as the Transvaal) carried out by British colonial statesman Leander Starr Jameson and his Company troops ("police" in the employ of Beit and Rhodes' British South Africa Company) and Bechuanaland policemen over the New Year weekend of 1895–96. Paul Kruger was president of the republic at the time. The raid was intended to trigger an uprising by the primarily British expatriate workers (known as Uitlanders) in the Transvaal but failed to do so. The workers were called the Johannesburg conspirators. They were expected to recruit an army and prepare for an insurrection. The raid was ineffective and no uprising took place, but it was an inciting factor in the Second Boer War and the Second Matabele War. A new interpretation of this event is explored in the book, The Cowboy Capitalist by Charles van Onselen, 2017. See endnote vii, pages 66-67.


� Katherine Munro does not believe this to have been Mr Stucke.


� Queen of the Earth, begins: "An angel in all but name is she" derives from poetry by H. L. D'Arcy Jaxone, 1 Jan 1883. The subsequent song was written by Frank Harding in 1895. A recording by Alan Turner  in June, 1909 can be listened to at  � HYPERLINK "https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Po-aLylee5c" �https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Po-aLylee5c�. The full text of words can be seen at footnote iii.











� The Anglo Boer War was fought by Britain and her Empire against the Boers.  The Boers were comprised of the combined forces of the South African Republic and the Republic of the Orange Free State.  The Boer Republics declared war on 11th October 1899 and the conflict ended on 31st May 1902, a duration of 2 years and 8 months.





� Laying the railway lines


� Harry J Hofmeyer, Mayor of Johannesburg, 1910-1911





� By Image extracted from page 268 of Some South African Recollections, by PHILIPPS, Lionel and Florence. Original held and digitised by the British Library. Copied from Flickr.Note: The colours, contrast and appearance of these illustrations are unlikely to be true to life. They are derived from scanned images that have been enhanced for machine interpretation and have been altered from their originals.This file is from the Mechanical Curator collection, a set of over 1 million images scanned from out-of-copyright books and released to Flickr Commons by the British Library.View image on Flickr   View all images from book   View catalogue entry for book.беларуская (тарашкевіца)‎ | English | français | +/−, Public Domain, � HYPERLINK "https://commons.wikimedia.org/w/index.php?curid=31506090" �https://commons.wikimedia.org/w/index.php?curid=31506090�





� �


St Mary’s The Less Church, Jeppestown





� The Boer War


A War Between the British and the Boers in South Africa (1899-1902)


by Tarkan Rosenberg, Contributing Writer Updated March 03, 2017





From October 11, 1899 until May 31, 1902, the Second Boer War (also known as the South African War and the Anglo-Boer War) was fought in South Africa between the British and the Boers (Dutch settlers in southern Africa). The Boers had founded two independent South African republics (the Orange Free State and the South African Republic) and had a long history of distrust and dislike for the British that surrounded them.





After gold was discovered in the South African Republic in 1886, the British wanted the area under their control.





In 1899, the conflict between the British and the Boers burgeoned into a full-fledged war that was fought in three stages: a Boer offensive against British command posts and railway lines, a British counteroffensive that brought the two republics under British control, and a Boer guerrilla resistance movement that prompted a widespread scorched-earth campaign by the British and the internment and deaths of thousands of Boer civilians in British concentration camps.





The first phase of the war gave the Boers the upper hand over British forces, but the latter two phases eventually brought victory to the British and placed the previously independent Boer territories firmly under British dominion -- leading, eventually, to the complete unification of � HYPERLINK "https://www.thoughtco.com/geography-of-south-africa-1435514" �South Africa� as a British colony in 1910.





Who Were the Boers?


In 1652, the � HYPERLINK "https://www.thoughtco.com/the-dutch-east-india-company-1434566" �Dutch East India Company� established the first staging post at the Cape of Good Hope (the southernmost tip of Africa); this was a place where ships could rest and resupply during the long voyage to the exotic spice markets along India’s western coast.


This staging post attracted settlers from Europe for whom life on the continent had become unbearable due to economic difficulties and religious oppression.





At the turn of the 18th century, the Cape had become home to settlers from Germany and France; however, it was the Dutch who made up the majority of the settler population. They came to be known as “Boers”’—the Dutch word for farmers.





As time passed, a number of Boers began migrating to the hinterlands where they believed they would have more autonomy to conduct their daily lives without the heavy regulations imposed on them by the Dutch East India Company.





The British Move Into South Africa


Britain, who viewed the Cape as an excellent staging post on route to their colonies in Australia and India, attempted to take control over Cape Town from the Dutch East India Company, which had effectively gone bankrupt.  In 1814, Holland officially handed the colony over to the British Empire.





Almost immediately, the British began a campaign to “Anglicize” the colony. English became the official language, rather than Dutch, and official policy encouraged the immigration of settlers from Great Britain.





The issue of slavery became another point of contention. Britain officially abolished the practice in 1834 throughout their empire, which meant that the Cape’s Dutch settlers also had to relinquish their ownership of black slaves.





The British did offer compensation to the Dutch settlers for relinquishing their slaves, but this compensation was seen as insufficient and their anger was compounded by the fact that the compensation had to be collected in London, some 6,000 miles way.





Boer Independence


The tension between Great Britain and South Africa’s Dutch settlers eventually prompted many Boers to move their families further into South Africa’s interior—away from British control—where they could establish an autonomous Boer state.





This migration from Cape Town into the South African hinterland from 1835 to the early 1840s came to be known as “The Great Trek.” (Dutch settlers who remained in Cape Town, and thus under British rule, became known as � HYPERLINK "https://www.thoughtco.com/afrikaners-in-south-africa-1435512" �Afrikaners�.)





The Boers came to embrace a new-found sense of nationalism and sought to establish themselves as an independent Boer nation, dedicated to � HYPERLINK "https://www.thoughtco.com/five-point-calvinism-700356" �Calvinism� and a Dutch way of life.





By 1852, a settlement was reached between the Boers and the British Empire granting sovereignty to those Boers who had settled beyond the Vaal River in the northeast. The 1852 settlement and another settlement, reached in 1854, brought about the creation of two independent Boer republics—the Transvaal and the Orange Free State. The Boers now had their own home.





The First Boer War


Despite the Boers’ newly won autonomy, their relationship with the British continued to be tense. The two Boer republics were financially unstable and still relied heavily on British help. The British, conversely, distrusted the Boers—viewing them as quarrelsome and thickheaded.





In 1871, the British moved to annex the diamond territory of the Griqua People, which had previously been incorporated by the Orange Free State. Six years later, the British annexed the Transvaal, which was plagued by bankruptcy and endless squabbles with native populations.





These moves angered Dutch settlers throughout South Africa. In 1880, after first allowing the British to defeat their common Zulu enemy, the Boers finally rose up in rebellion, taking up arms against the British with the purpose of reclaiming the Transvaal. The crisis is known as the First Boer War.





The First Boer War lasted only a few short months, from December 1880 until March 1881. It was a disaster for the British, who had greatly underestimated the military skill and efficiency of the Boer militia units.





In the early weeks of the war, a group of less than 160 Boer militiamen attacked a British regiment, killing 200 British soldiers in 15 minutes. In late February 1881, the British lost a total of 280 soldiers at Majuba, while the Boers are said to have suffered only one single casualty.





Britain’s Prime Minister William E. Gladstone forged a compromise peace with the Boers that granted the Transvaal self-government while still keeping it as an official colony of Great Britain. The compromise did little to appease the Boers and tension between the two sides continued.





In 1884, Transvaal President � HYPERLINK "http://www.anglo-boer.co.za/role-players/pres-paul-kruger.php" �Paul Kruger� successfully renegotiated the original agreement. Although control of foreign treaties remained with Britain, Britain did, however, drop the Transvaal’s official status as a British colony. The Transvaal was then officially renamed the South African Republic.





Gold


The discovery of roughly 17,000 square miles of gold fields in Witwatersrand in 1886, and the subsequent opening of those fields for public digging, would make the Transvaal region the prime destination for gold diggers from all over the globe.





The � HYPERLINK "http://www.sahistory.org.za/archive/gold-rush" �1886 gold rush� not only transformed the poor, agrarian South African Republic into an economic powerhouse, it also caused a great deal of turmoil for the young republic. The Boers were leery of the foreign prospectors—whom they dubbed “Uitlanders” (“outlanders”)—pouring into their country from across the world to mine the Witwatersrand fields.





Tensions between Boers and Uitlanders eventually prompted Kruger to adopt harsh laws that would limit the general freedoms of the Uitlanders and seek to protect Dutch culture in the region. These included policies to limit access to education and press for Uitlanders, making the Dutch language obligatory, and keeping the Uitlanders disenfranchised.





These policies further eroded relations between Great Britain and the Boers as many of those rushing to the gold fields were British sovereigns. Also, the fact that Britain’s Cape Colony had now slipped into the South African Republic’s economic shadow, made Great Britain even more determined to secure its African interests and to bring the Boers to heel. 


 





The Jameson Raid


The outrage expressed against Kruger’s harsh immigration policies caused many in the Cape colony and in Britain itself to anticipate a widespread Uitlander uprising in Johannesburg. Among them was the Cape Colony’s prime minister and diamond magnate Cecil Rhodes.





Rhodes was a staunch colonialist and thus believed Britain should acquisition the Boer territories (as well as the gold fields there). Rhodes sought to exploit Uitlander discontent in the Transvaal and pledged to invade the Boer republic in the event of an uprising by Uitlanders. He entrusted 500 Rhodesian (Rhodesia having been named after him) mounted police to his agent, Dr. Leander Jameson.





Jameson had express instructions not to enter the Transvaal until an Uitlander uprising was underway. Jameson ignored his instructions and on December 31, 1895, entered the territory only to be captured by Boer militiamen. The event, known as the � HYPERLINK "https://www.thoughtco.com/jameson-raid-december-1895-44562" �Jameson Raid�, was a debacle and forced Rhodes to resign as the Cape’s prime minister.





The Jameson raid only served to increase tension and distrust between the Boers and the British.





Kruger’s continued harsh policies against the Uitlanders and his cozy relationship with Britain’s colonial rivals, continued to fuel the empire’s ire towards the Transvaal republic during the waning years of the 1890s. Paul Kruger’s election to a fourth term as president of the South African Republic in 1898, finally convinced Cape politicians that the only way to deal with the Boers would be through the use of force.





After several failed attempts at reaching a compromise, the Boers had had their fill and by September of 1899 were preparing for full war with the British Empire. That same month the Orange Free State publicly declared its support for Kruger.





The Ultimatum


On October 9th, Alfred Milner, the governor of the Cape Colony, received a telegram from authorities in the Boer capital of Pretoria. The telegram laid out a point-by-point ultimatum.





The ultimatum demanded peaceful arbitration, the removal of British troops along their border, British troop reinforcements be recalled, and that British reinforcements who were coming via ship not land.





The British replied that no such conditions could be met and by the evening of October 11, 1899, Boer forces began crossing over the borders into Cape Province and Natal. The Second Boer War had begun.





The Second Boer War Begins: The Boer Offensive


Neither the Orange Free State nor the South African Republic commanded large, professional armies. Their forces, instead, consisted of militias called “commandos” that consisted of “burghers” (citizens). Any burgher between the ages of 16 and 60 was liable to be called up to serve in a commando and each often brought their own rifles and horses.





A commando consisted of anywhere between 200 and 1,000 burghers and was headed by a “Kommandant” who was elected by the commando itself. Commando members, furthermore, were allowed to sit as equals in general councils of war to which they often brought their own individual ideas about tactics and strategy.





The Boers who made up these commandos were excellent shots and horsemen, as they had to learn to survive in a very hostile environment from a very young age. Growing up in the Transvaal meant that one often had protect one’s settlements and herds against lions and other predators.  This made the Boer militias a formidable enemy.





The British, on the other hand, were experienced with leading campaigns on the African continent and yet were completely unprepared for a full-scale war. Thinking that this was a mere squabble that would soon be resolved, the British lacked reserves in ammunition and equipment; plus, they had no suitable military maps available for use either.


  


The Boers took advantage of the British’s ill-preparedness and moved quickly in the early days of the war. Commandos spread out in several directions from the Transvaal and Orange Free State, besieging three railway towns—Mafeking, Kimberley and � HYPERLINK "https://www.thoughtco.com/second-boer-war-siege-of-ladysmith-2360792" �Ladysmith�—in order to impede the transport of British reinforcements and equipment from the coast.





The Boers also won several major battles during the early months of the war. Most notably these were the battles of Magersfontein, Colesberg and Stormberg, which all occurred during what became known as “Black Week” between December 10 and 15, 1899.





Despite this successful initial offensive, the Boers never sought to occupy any of the British-held territories in South Africa; they focused instead on besieging supply lines and ensuring that the British were too undersupplied and disorganized to launch their own offensive.





In the process, the Boers greatly taxed their resources and their failure to push further into British-held territories allowed the British time to resupply their armies from the coast. The British may have faced defeat early on but the tide was about to turn.





Phase Two: The British Resurgence


By January of 1900, neither the Boers (despite their many victories) nor the British had made much headway. The Boer sieges of strategic British rail lines continued but the Boer militias were rapidly growing weary and low on supplies.





The British government decided it was time to gain the upper hand and sent two troop divisions to South Africa, which included volunteers from colonies like Australia and New Zealand. This amounted to roughly 180,000 men—the largest army Britain had ever sent overseas to this point. With these reinforcements, the disparity between the numbers of troops was huge, with 500,000 British soldiers but only 88,000 Boers.





By late February, British forces had managed to move up strategic railway lines and finally relieve Kimberley and Ladysmith from Boer besiegement. The � HYPERLINK "https://www.thoughtco.com/battle-of-paardeberg-2360856" �Battle of Paardeberg�, which lasted nearly ten days, saw a major defeat of Boer forces. Boer general Piet Cronjé surrendered to the British along with more than 4,000 men.





A series of further defeats greatly demoralized the Boers, who were also plagued by starvation and disease brought on by months of sieges with little to no supply relief. Their resistance began to collapse.





By March 1900, British forces led by Lord Frederick Roberts had occupied Bloemfontein (the capital of the Orange Free State) and by May and June they had taken Johannesburg and the South African Republic’s capital, Pretoria. Both republics were annexed by the British Empire.





Boer leader Paul Kruger escaped capture and went into exile in Europe, where much of the population’s sympathy lay with the Boer cause. Squabbles erupted within Boer ranks between the bittereinders (“bitter-enders”) who wanted to keep fighting and those hendsoppers (“hands-uppers”) who favored surrender.  Many Boer burghers did end up surrendering at this point, but about 20,000 others decided to fight on.





The last, and most destructive, phase of the war was about to begin. Despite the British victories, the guerrilla phase would last more than two years.





Phase Three: Guerrilla Warfare, Scorched Earth, and Concentration Camps


Despite having annexed both Boer republics, the British barely managed to control either one. The guerrilla war that was launched by resistant burghers and led by generals � HYPERLINK "http://www.sahistory.org.za/people/christiaan-rudolf-de-wet" �Christiaan de Wet� and � HYPERLINK "http://www.sahistory.org.za/people/jacobus-herculaas-de-la-rey" �Jacobus Hercules de la Rey�, kept the pressure on British forces throughout the Boer territories.





Rebel Boer commandos relentlessly raided British communication lines and army bases with swift, surprise attacks often conducted at night. Rebel commandos had the ability to form on a moment’s notice, conduct their attack and then vanish as if into thin air, confusing British forces who barely knew what had hit them.





The British response to the guerrillas was three-fold. Firstly, � HYPERLINK "https://www.thoughtco.com/field-marshal-horatio-herbert-kitchener-2360167" �Lord Horatio Herbert Kitchener�, commander of the South African British forces, decided to set up barbed wire and blockhouses along the railway lines to keep the Boers at bay. When this tactic failed, Kitchener decided to adopt a “scorched earth” policy that systematically sought to destroy food supplies and deprive the rebels of shelter. Whole towns and thousands of farms were plundered and burned; livestock were killed.





Lastly, and perhaps most controversially, Kitchener ordered the construction of concentration camps in which thousands of women and children—mostly those left homeless and destitute by his scorched earth policy— were interred.


  


The concentration camps were severely mismanaged. Food and water were scarce in the camps and starvation and disease caused the deaths of over 20,000. Black Africans were also interred in segregated camps primarily as a source of cheap labor for gold mines.


The camps were widely criticized, especially in Europe where British methods in the war were already under heavy scrutiny. Kitchener’s reasoning was that the interment of civilians would not only further deprive the burghers of food, which had been supplied to them by their wives on the homestead, but that it would prompt the Boers to surrender in order to be reunited with their families.





Most notable among the critics in Britain was Liberal activist Emily Hobhouse, who worked tirelessly to expose the conditions in the camps to an outraged British public. The revelation of the camp system severely damaged the reputation of Britain’s government and furthered the cause for Boer nationalism abroad. 





Peace


Nevertheless, the strong-arm tactics of the British against the Boers eventually served their purpose. The Boer militias grew weary of fighting and morale was breaking down.


The British had offered peace terms in March of 1902, but to no avail. By May of that year, however, Boer leaders finally accepted peace conditions and signed the Treaty of Vereenigingon May 31, 1902.





The treaty officially ended the independence of both the South African Republic and the Orange Free State and placed both territories under British army administration. The treaty also called for the immediate disarmament of the burghers and included a provision for funds to be made available for the reconstruction of the Transvaal.





The Second Boer War had come to an end and eight years later, in 1910, South Africa was united under British dominion and became the Union of South Africa.





� Carl von Brandis - The Father of Johannesburg  


Accessed, 24/06/2017 � HYPERLINK "http://www.theheritageportal.co.za/article/carl-von-brandis-father-johannesburg" �http://www.theheritageportal.co.za/article/carl-von-brandis-father-johannesburg�





If you visit the High Court in Johannesburg you will notice a massive statue on the western edge along Pritchard Street. The statue commemorates the life of Captain Carl von Brandis -the 'Father of Johannesburg'. In the following article, P. J. Edginton uncovers some fascinating biographical details. The article first appeared in the old Johannesburg Historical Foundation's journal Between the Chains.





A man who could efficiently carry out his duties as a senior Government official, keep order in an unruly community with tact and humour and yet hold the affection of the inhabitants of a rough mining town must have been a remarkable character. Such indeed was Captain Carl von Brandis, the first official Mining Commissioner of the Witwatersrand and, shortly thereafter, the first magistrate of Johannesburg.





Born in Germany in 1827 of a military family, he saw service in Austro-Hungary and Italy. In 1857 he came to the Cape with the German Legion (a British regiment). It was here he met and marred Jane Margaret Hohne, who bore him four children and who was a devoted wife throughout his varied career. By 1859 he was serving the Government of the Orange Free State and nine years later he followed President Pretorius to Pretoria. When gold was discovered on the the Witwatersrand, President Kruger sent Von Brandis, then aged 59, as Mining Commissioner to the area. In this capacity he read the first Government Proclamation of the Goldfields of 20 September 1886. Soon after this he was promoted to the post of Special Landrost of Johannesburg with duties comprising all matters connected with government, mining and public health throughout the Goldfields. With his former assistant, now the Mining Commissioner, Jan Eloff, he soon created order out of a tangle of mijnpachten and diggers’ claims.





For some time living and working conditions were extremely primitive. His office and home was initially a tent about the corner of present-day Market and Sauer Streets. This is where a whirlwind scattered and irretrievably lost a number of documents. Then followed a wood and iron shed. By now Mrs Von Brandis and the family had come over from Pretoria. They lived in uncomfortable circumstances until the Landdrost’s first residence was erected at the corner of Kerk and Smal Streets, adjoining the present Von Brandis Gardens. Later the family moved to a house at the corner of Twist and Pietersen streets in Hospital Hill.





Although he had held the office of Landrost in a number of towns, it is said that Von Brandis’s knowledge of law was not extensive, but that his equity was enormous. He had a common-sense approach to all problems. On one occasion he ordered two litigants to go outside and physically fight it out. He had a particular aversion to imprisoning persons for debt. If an indigent woman could not pay for her fine he invariably paid for it himself. Yet such was his prestige that everyone accepted his decisions.





Incorruptible, fair-minded, an abstainer and a non-smoker (although he did take snuff) he possessed great personal charm which smoothed many difficulties, and which age did not diminish. A typical example was on the occasion of Paul Kruger’s official visit to Johannesburg in 1890. His Honour’s speech had upset the Uitlanders and that evening a crowd collected outside Von Brandis’s house, where Kruger was staying, and created a disturbance.





The mob became menacing and the President’s escort were fingering their pistols when Von Brandis came out. He pointed out that the President was his guest, and furthermore that his wife would be furious with him for the damage the crowd was doing to her garden. He asked them to be good boys and go home which they promptly did.


Von Brandis realised that after proclaiming the new Goldfields it was incumbent upon him to keep order in the turbulent mining camp and to foster its growth into a proper town. it should be remembered that, on the one hand, he had to persuade his conservative superiors in Pretoria and, on the other, he had to preserve happy relations with the Johannesburgers. Two of his notable early achievements, both in 1887, were the formation of the Sanitary Board and the establishment of the Johannesburg General Hospital.





The Landrost was a well-known figure in Johannesburg in his flat-topped hat, morning coat, light trousers and with his characteristic limp. He was a central personage at many public functions, such as the opening of the Globe Theatre in 1888 and the Standard in 1891. He also chaired many sporting bodies and was an original trustee of the Wanderers Club. Von Brandis continued in office throughout the War of 1899-1902 during which he was impartially neutral. The British Government appointed him local Registrar of Births and Deaths. In 1902, a the age of 76, he died at his home on the corner of Twist and Pietersen streets and is buried in Braamfontein Cemetery.





There are a number of memorials for the man throughout Johannesburg but more than all these things Captain Carl von Brandis lives in the affectionate memory of the people as the great Father of the City of Johannesburg.





�  McArthur Forest Cyanide process


Cyanide process, also called Macarthur-forrest Process, method of extracting silver and gold from their ores by dissolving them in a dilute solution of sodium cyanide or potassium cyanide. The process was invented in 1887 by the Scottish chemists John S. MacArthur, Robert W. Forrest, and William Forrest. The method includes three steps: contacting the finely ground � HYPERLINK "https://www.britannica.com/science/ore-mining" �ore� with the cyanide solution, separating the solids from the clear solution, and recovering the � HYPERLINK "https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/precious" �precious� metals from the solution by precipitation with zinc dust. Ref. � HYPERLINK "https://www.britannica.com/technology/cyanide-process" �https://www.britannica.com/technology/cyanide-process� 


Cyanide process or cyanidation, method for extracting � HYPERLINK "http://encyclopedia2.thefreedictionary.com/Gold" �gold� from its ore. The ore is first finely ground and may be concentrated by flotation; if it contains certain impurities, it may be roasted. It is then mixed with a dilute solution of sodium cyanide (or potassium or calcium cyanide) while air is bubbled through it. The gold is oxidized and forms the soluble aurocyanide complex ion, Au(CN)2−1. (Silver, usually present as an impurity, forms a similar soluble ion.) The solution is separated from the ore by methods such as filtration, and the gold is precipitated by adding powdered zinc. The precipitate usually contains silver, which is also precipitated, and unreacted zinc. The precipitate is further refined, e.g., by smelting to remove the zinc and by treating with nitric acid to dissolve the silver. The cyanide process was developed (1887) by J. S. MacArthur and others in Glasgow, Scotland. It is now the most important and widely used process for extracting gold from ores. Ref.  � HYPERLINK "http://encyclopedia2.thefreedictionary.com/MacArthur-Forrest+Process" �http://encyclopedia2.thefreedictionary.com/MacArthur-Forrest+Process�





� Colonial history of Cradock


The district of which Cradock is now the centre was first settled by Dutch farmers in the late 18th century, but was known long before to the hunters who illicitly crossed the frontier in search of game and ivory.





The first official Dutch expedition to the upper Great Fish River was in mid-1752 when a party led by Ensign August Frederik Beutler visited the area. Beutler, following the instructions of Governor � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Ryk_Tulbagh" �Ryk Tulbagh� to investigate the possibilities of developing the Cape's eastern regions, was accompanied by a number of other officials including a diarist, Carl Haupt, and a surveyor, Carl Wentzel, who drew a map of the route taken. Almost the only mention made about the area in the diary was that it was very dry and forage was unobtainable.





Forty five years later traveller Sir John Barrow crossed the Great Fish River. At his crossing point he noted on his map the existence beside the river of "Hepatic wells" - sulphur springs. In later years the springs were to be used for wool washing and the town's laundry.





... After the war of 1811-12, it became apparent that to maintain order along the frontier more administrative and military posts would have to be established along the Great Fish River. The district of � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Graaff-Reinet" �Graaff-Reinet� was too large to administer properly and the town itself too far from the river, so it was decided to set up a new sub-drostdy, and in June 1812 Ensign � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Andries_Stockenstrom" �Andries Stockenstrom� was appointed deputy landdrost. Piet van Heerden's farm Buffels Kloof beside the Great Fish River was bought for 3 500 rix dollars. One of the advantages of the purchase was that Van Heerden's stone-walled house farmhouse could serve as a prison, the first and apparently most important requirement of any town. The house also provided accommodation for a constable and two policemen.





The official proclamation appeared in the Cape Town Gazette on 21 January 1814. Sir John Cradock sanctioned an expenditure of 12 000 � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Rixdollar" �rixdollars� on public buildings and work began at once on a house for the deputy landdrost. In addition he was allowed a farm to "render his position as comfortable and respectable as possible". The farm chosen was Driefontein, that of Piet van Heerden's brother, W J van Heerden.





In July 1817 the Reverend John Evans was appointed as first minister and he set about raising funds for a church. With minister, deputy landdrost, constable and policemen, the inhabitants could consider their tiny village well on the way to being a "town".


In the 1830s the Great Trek began, as � HYPERLINK "https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Afrikaners" �Afrikaners� who were discontent with British rule left en masse for the interior. Most of the migration departed from (and via) the area around Cradock.





The Cape Colony received a degree of independence in 1872 when "Responsible Government" was declared and, in 1877, the government of Prime Minister John Molteno sanctioned construction of a railway line connecting Port Elizabeth on the coast with the hinterland. Passing as it did through Cradock it led to significant growth and economic development in and around the town.





In the early 1900s, a boom in demand for ostrich feathers led to a massive rise in prosperity for the local ostrich farmers.





� The Jameson Raid of 1895–1896 was a pivotal moment in the history of South Africa, linking events from the Anglo-Boer War to the declaration of the Union of South Africa in 1910 and the advent of apartheid in 1948. For over a century, the failed revolution has been interpreted through the lens of British imperialism, with responsibility laid at the feet of Cecil John Rhodes.





But rigorous historical analysis points in a different direction – to a plot that drew not only on British jingoes and disgruntled Afrikaner fifth-column elements, but also on the culture of the American West, a culture that embraced wild adventurism, filibustering and the writ of the vigilance committees. In The Cowboy Capitalist, Charles van Onselen challenges a historiography of over 120 years, locating the raid in American rather than British history and forcing us to rethink the histories of at least three countries. He identifies Californian mining engineer John Hays Hammond, a confidant of both Cecil Rhodes and Leander Starr Jameson, as the principal architect of the attempted coup in Paul Kruger’s Boer republic. In so doing, he uncovers the hidden history of the American West on the South African Highveld, situating Hammond’s career against the backdrop of the global expansion of the United States during the Gilded Age.





This radical reinterpretation challenges the commonly held belief that the Jameson Raid was quintessentially British and, in doing so, drives splinters into our understanding of South African history at the turn of the 19th century and well beyond. � HYPERLINK "https://www.facebook.com/events/1950275848630095/" �https://www.facebook.com/events/1950275848630095/�  Accessed  15/09/2017








� QUEEN OF THE EARTH. Copyright, 1895, by Frank Harding. By Ciro Pinsuti.


An angel in all but name is she,


O'er life her vigil keeping;


Whose wings are spread o'er each cradle bed,


Where the hopes of earth lie sleeping.


The heroes that vanquish amid the strife,


And write their names on the scroll of life,


Have fought for the fadeless laurels of fame,


To lay their crowns on her sacred name,


To lay their crowns on her sacred name.


Wide as the world is her kingdom of power,


Love is her scepter, her crown and her dower;


In every heart she has fashioned her throne;


As queen of the earth she reigneth alone,


As queen of the earth she reigneth alone.





An angel in all but power is she,


'Mid scenes of shade and sorrow:


She weaves thro' each night a ladder of light


That leads to a bright to-morrow.


She launches each life on the sea of time,


And guides each helm to the far-off clime;


Her pinions of love are spread in each sail.


Till she casts the anchor within the vale,


Till she casts the anchor within the vale.


Wide as the world is her kingdom of power;


Love is her sceptre, her crown and her dower;


In every heart she bas fashion'd her throne;


As queen of the earth she reigneth alone,


As queen of the earth she reigneth alone.





� PICTURES OF OLD JOHANNESBURG


� HYPERLINK "https://www.facebook.com/friedel.hansen" �Friedel Hansen� added � HYPERLINK "https://www.facebook.com/friedel.hansen/posts/10207772229606053" �28 new photos�.


� HYPERLINK "https://www.facebook.com/friedel.hansen/posts/10207772229606053" �12 October 2015�   � HYPERLINK "https://www.facebook.com/friedel.hansen/posts/10207772229606053" �https://www.facebook.com/friedel.hansen/posts/10207772229606053�


Downloaded 17/06/2017


�


Johannesburg City Centre, C. 1896





At the time of the Anglo Boer War Pretoria was like a little hamlet with a population of about 20 000 people. On the other hand, Johannesburg sprang up like a mushroom in about 20 odd years. At the time of the war it already had a population five times bigger than Pretoria: 100 000.


�


Johannesburg Market Square, 1900





“Another view of Johannesburg's market square around 1900. On the front left some men are putting up an undertaker's signboard.”




















�


RWK and JSW in later years











�


JSW and RWK travelling by boat


� For a summary of the history and significance of the Boer War, see endnote iii on pps. 35-44. 
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